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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

TAI Chun Kit
Chairman

OO B S Ak
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RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s consolidated
revenue was approximately HK$183,133,000 (2021: approximately
HK$131,120,000). The loss attributable to equity holders of the
Company was approximately HK$17,337,000 (2021: HK$4,162,000)
while loss per share was HK6.68 cents (2021: HK1.6 cents).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Economic and business environment in 2021-22 became increasingly
complex and uncertain against the background of pandemic outbreak,
Russian-Ukraine conflict, rising inflation and the quantitative
tightening of various central banks. The potential negative effects of
these issues on business were multiple: weakening customers’ demand,
unstable global supply, strengthening of the virus containment
measures and rising energy and transportation costs, etc. Under
such circumstances, Hong Kong economy has been severely hit by
weakened domestic consumption under the outbreak of the fifth wave
of Covid-19 and the reinforcement of social distancing measures.

Based on the Group’s long standing reputation, the solid foundation
of comprehensive customer network and good relationships with our
customers, the Group successfully positioned itself to achieve revenue
growth by diversifying its products towards the high quality food
segment under the unstable economic environment.
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Chairman’s Statement
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Always bring you the world’s superior quality frozen meats

E 1R 47 385 77 K BEEL R A

Frozen Meats Trading

While global economy continued its unstable recovery from the last
year, several crises occurred in the beginning of 2022 affected the
global economy, e.g. the new wave of Omicron variant outbreak,
increasing threats of monetary tapering triggered by concerns over
inflation, and Russia-Ukraine crisis leading to rising energy and food
costs. All these factors negatively affected the Group’s core business
of frozen meats trading. Firstly, the demand of frozen meats from
catering business sector dropped significantly because the number
of customers decreased, due to the continuing travel restrictions,
quarantine requirements and social distancing policy. Secondly,
supply delay frequently occurred since loaded containers were held
up on board vessels due to labour shortage under strict anti-pandemic
measures. Thirdly, profit margin was further eroded by the rising
transportation and warehouse costs caused by the supply chain
disruption.

Notwithstanding the negative impacts mentioned above, the frozen
meats trading business managed to improve its revenue by adopting a
prudent purchase strategy on traditional frozen meats while optimising
its product mix through the high quality frozen meat products. The
Group’s solely distributed Japanese wagyu beef brand “Satsuma” and
Korean Lotte’s Australian wagyu beef brand “L’Grow” fulfilled the
growing needs of premium food. At the same time, high-end Japanese
wagyu beef consumers turned to buy wagyu beef locally through retail
and on-line channels under travel restrictions.
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

Catering Business

The catering business operates two restaurant brands, Beefar’s and
Gyumai, serving various types of premium wagyu beef cuisine in
prime locations of Hong Kong.

The restaurant Beefar’s, located in Tsim Sha Tsui, is a joint venture
between the Group and our Japanese partner, Kamichiku Holdings Co.,
Ltd., offering the high-quality “Satsuma” brand of Japanese wagyu
beef in Japanese BBQ style, which is popular among the Japanese
wagyu beef lovers.

The Group’s another restaurant brand “Gyumai” opened its first
restaurant in Yuen Long in early 2021 delivered outstanding
performance. Such success was attributable to the great varieties of
supreme beef offered, from three major producing areas - “Satsuma”
Japanese wagyu beef from Japan, Korean Lotte’s “L’Grow” brand
Australian wagyu beef from Australia and Angus premium beef from
the United States, in all-you-can-eat Japanese BBQ and Japanese
hotpot style, thus further enhancing the Group’s presence in the field
of catering.

Throughout the year of 2021-22, the operation of the catering
industry in Hong Kong has been severely hindered by the outbreak
of Covid-19. Subject to social distancing policies of seat restrictions,
reduced hours of operations and other restrictive policies, the
numbers of customers have dropped significantly. Furthermore, with
the fifth wave outbreak of Omicron occurred in the first quarter of
2022, continuing border control measures and suspension of dine-in
dinner seriously affected the restaurant business. As a result, both the
consumption amount and transaction volume at the Group’s restaurants
dropped substantially comparing to the corresponding period of
previous financial year.

Other Business

Recognising the importance of brand building and marketing strategies
to a leading company in the food industry, the Group also engages in
the segment of communication and advertising design, and marketing
of meat products. Bringing in modern brand positioning elements from
various industries, such as brand attributes, consumer expectations
and perceptions, price and competitor attributes, the Group has
successfully built widely-accepted brand of “Satsuma” and “L’Grow”
in the meats trading sector, whilst “Beefar’s” and “Gyumai” in the
catering sector through active marketing campaigns and digital media.
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Food Business Investment

The Group continues to hold approximately 29.98% equity interest
of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”) as a strategic
investment in the food business.

During the review period, FSMHL was able to expand its business,
search for new profit growth points, strengthen its brand, and introduce
a new experience for consumers from Mainland China and Hong Kong
through diverse food and snack items from its subsidiary, Miyata
Holdings Co., Ltd. (“Miyata”). Therefore, FSMHL has maintained
stable growth. However, the fifth wave of coronavirus outbreak did
impact its retailing and catering business and the lockdowns in various
regions in Mainland China also affected the supply chain between
Mainland China and Hong Kong. Despite all the obstacles, FSMHL
continued to introduce a diverse range of Japanese food and explored
more opportunities in the food distribution segment. New products like
Japanese ice cream, Japanese eggs, Japanese milk, Japanese tofu and
Japanese rice became popular items in the market. FSMHL completed
its full acquisition of Miyata during the year. Miyata has a long history
in Japan and owns a strong network of retail and distribution with a
vast customer base and is believed to bring synergy to FSMHL and the
Group.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s share of
profit from FSMHL was HK$3,789,000 (2021: HK$9,035,000).

PROSPECTS

The fiscal year 2022-23 will be another challenging year of threats and
opportunities for every corporation in the world. The global economic
recovery is fragile, with uncertainty under the Covid-19, inflation due
to supply-demand imbalances triggered by war, food protectionism
risks where export bans of food from around 30 countries, and central
banks’ monetary policy uncertainties. In addition, attractiveness
of Japanese assets and goods sees a corresponding rise with the
depreciation of Japanese Yen, which hit a 20-year low against the US
dollar in June 2022. In response to the potential impacts, the Group
will closely monitor the rapidly changing situation and take measures
including strengthening the relationship with overseas suppliers,
expanding the range of trading products, deepening the sources of
procurement in Japan and increasing the proportion of procurement
from other meat producing countries.

On the other hand, food and restaurant industry in Hong Kong is
expecting a steady rebound by the gradual easing of social-distancing
rules and the lifting of travel restrictions. The Group is cautiously
optimistic about the prospects for catering business in a post-pandemic
era and will adapt its expansion plan of opening new restaurants to
capture the future economic development in Hong Kong. Leveraging
on the long term and excellent business relationship with local
customers and overseas suppliers, the Group will continue to provide
tasty, nutritious and high-quality food to the public.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EREHRE

FSMHL, the strategic investment partner of the Group, with 50
years of successful experience in operating diversified businesses,
is confident in its future development. In the coming year, it will
continue to adhere to its development strategy of “Based in Hong
Kong, Yearning for the Mainland, and Looking around the World”.
Based in Hong Kong, while maintaining its leading position in the
local market, it will continue to strive to preserve its competitive
advantage in Mainland China and also develop new opportunities
in Japan and other regions. Looking ahead, FSMHL expects three
main positive factors for its business. Firstly, the depreciation of
Japanese Yen leads to a decrease in import costs and raw material
prices; secondly, the popularity of Japanese food brings high demand
for FSMHL’s products, which will become a catalyst for its business
growth; last but not least, high vaccination rate addresses the supply
chain disruptions and will reduce the overall costs of its business.
We have no doubt that FSMHL will bring good revenue to the Group
continuously.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the board of directors, I would like to express my sincere
gratitude to our shareholders and our business partners for their
support and trust to the management team. My gratitude also extends
to our staff for their loyalty and diligence in the developments of the
Group.

TAI Chun Kit
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s consolidated revenue
recorded at approximately HK$183,133,000, an increase of 39.7%
over approximately HK$131,120,000 of previous financial year,
despite the economic environment in Hong Kong has been severely
hit by the pandemic outbreak. Such revenue growth was mainly
attributable to the increase in revenue from both trading and catering
segments due to strong demand in wagyu beef under rising concerns
over food safety standards and due to the full year contribution of
revenue from the first “Gyumai” restaurant which newly opened at
the end of last financial year, respectively. These two core businesses
of the Group were capable to withstand economic headwind amid
pandemic and continue to develop steadily on the long standing history
and solid foundation of the Group.

Frozen Meats Trading Business

The revenue generated from frozen meats trading business for the
current year was approximately HK$148,092,000, representing 80.9%
of the Group’s total revenue and it remains as the core business
of the Group. Comparing to approximately HK$114,020,000 of
previous financial year, the increase in revenue of 29.9% was mainly
attributable to the significant increase in sales from high quality meat,
wagyu beef. Adopting a product diversification strategy towards
premium frozen meats, the Japanese wagyu beef from our Japanese
joint venture partner, together with the newly introduced Korean
Lotte’s “L’Grow” brand of Australian wagyu beef, have successfully
fulfilling the needs of high-end consumers with rising standards on
food taste, nutrition and security over the last few years of pandemic.

The adjustment of product mix towards high-end wagyu beef not only
boost sales, but also contribute to the partial mitigation of decrease
in profit margin. However, the continuous drop in market prices of
traditional frozen meats including pork and chicken items and the
rapid increase in shipping costs outweighed the contribution from
sales of wagyu beef, though price of various consumer commodities
increased at the end of the year due to panic buying fuelled by fears of
lockdown during the fifth wave of infections. Furthermore, the already
thin profit margin was further eroded by the rising warehousing and
transportation costs under the supply chain disruption amid pandemic.
As a result, the overall segment result of the frozen meats trading
business was a loss of approximately HK$7,118,000, represented
an increase of approximately 290.2% as compared to the loss of
approximately HK$1,824,000 for previous financial year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Catering Business

The revenue from catering business increase 180.9% to approximately
HK$29,988,000 for current year because the first “Gyumai”
restaurant which newly opened at the end of previous financial
year has contributed a full year of revenue in the current year, but
partially offset by the sluggish consumer sentiment under strict social
distancing measures. Thousands of Hong Kong restaurants were forced
to shut down or suspended operations as Covid-19 cases brought
harsh restrictions, according to Hong Kong Federation of Restaurants
and Related Trades. The Group adopted flexible counter measures
proactively to promote the delivery business through introducing
custom takeaway-only dishes, exploring non-peak hours from 2:30 pm
to 5:30 pm by new “drunch” menu, and cooperate with online media
on promoting and marketing activities, aiming at developing new sales
channels. In addition, the government’s anti-epidemic funds and the
wage subsidies under the “Employment Support Scheme” program
helped partially offset the negative impacts. Despite all these, takeout
and delivery sales are failing to make up for lost dine-in customers due
to the pandemic and the segment loss for the current year increased
by 23.9% to approximately HK$1,409,000, as compared to a loss of
approximately HK$1,137,000 for previous financial year.

Catering business expects a rebound in business in the second half of
2022 as the epidemic trend stabilised and the Hong Kong Government
have announced further relaxation of social distancing measures.
Riding on the success of the first and second “Gyumai” restaurants
in the market of high-end premium meats under all-you-can eat in
Japanese BBQ and Japanese hotpot style, the third restaurant is going
to open in the second half of this year.

Other Businesses

For the year under review, the revenue from the segment of other
businesses was approximately HK$5,053,000, down 21.4% from
approximately HK$6,425,000 of previous financial year. The decrease
in revenue was caused by the shutdown of business of Yunica during
the year. On the other hand, the revision of marketing budgets up
to higher levels with companies stepping up efforts to position their
businesses for growth as pandemic-related risks began to recede led to
an increase in revenue of the communication and advertising design
business. Accordingly, the segment recorded a profit of approximately
HK$481,000 (2021: loss of approximately HK$2,199,000). As Hong
Kong continued its downward trend in Covid-19 cases recently,
there is potential rebound in revenue for marketing industry under
the expected economic rebound and respective dynamic growth in
business activities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Key Performance Indicators

Management has been provided with the following key performance
indicators information to manage its businesses. Appropriate
strategies, if necessary, are set to improve the performance after
undergoing the processes of evaluating and controlling:

BEEENWE DM
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Year ended 31 March
BE=ZHA=1+—-HIL4EE

2022 2021
Revenue (HK$’000) B W T-o8) 183,133 131,120
Gross profit margin (%) BRI E(HHH)O 13.9 12.2
Trade receivables turnover (days)® JE W B 5 B Ak R i (R ) @ 24 28
Inventory turnover (days)® FERE(RE)® 106 103
Operating expenses to sales (%)@ REBHEGELE(FHL)® 18.4 16.0

(1)  Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue.

(2) The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the average
of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and multiplied by
number of days in the relevant period.

(3) The calculation of inventory turnover days is based on the average of the
opening and closing balances divided by costs of purchase for goods sold
and multiplied by number of days in the relevant period.

(4) Operating expenses to sales is calculated as selling and distribution
expenses and administrative expenses (excluding depreciation) divided by
revenue.

Revenue

There was an increase in overall revenue over previous financial
year. As disclosed in the Operating Segment Information of note
4 to the financial statements in this annual report, revenue from
trading segment increased by approximately 29.9% to approximately
HK$148,092,000 because of the surge in demand of premium
high-quality frozen meat from end customers, mainly wagyu beef,
due to increasing awareness of food safety and personal health amid
pandemic, and rising local demand of imported food during travel
restrictions and quarantine requirements. Such increase was partially
offset by the decrease in corporate customers’ orders on traditional
frozen meat amid outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic resulting in a plunge
in the number of tourists from Mainland China and overseas. As a
result, the percentage of trading segment revenue to overall revenue
decreased from 87.0% of previous financial year to 80.9% of current
year.

Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit margin increased to 13.9% from 12.2% of
previous financial year, which was primarily driven by the catering
business segment with high gross profit margin as its percentage to
the Group’s total revenue increases. However, the contribution of
gross profit margin from catering business was partially offset by
the decrease in gross profit margin of trading segment from 5.2% of
previous financial year to 2.2% of the current year due to the price
drop of traditional frozen meats.

TECCFER | EARARM

(1) BRI REBAERABAFHST o

(2) MWK BT B MRk ) R S R R BT R AR A B v
- 349 W i DA WO P o DL TR -

(3)  F7 5 TR R WV T A R T ) R A O 2 M
VL E S B i A T 3 DA ] R

(4)  ROE TR SO A bh A0 B B A B B 5 I A Y
B B o3 8 FAAT BOBA 52 (FNBR T8 BR DA -

A

PR b — (8 B B4R BE LT o il U A A i B
ek B kA f8 8 A E R 8 > B 5 4R A B
i #129.9% % #)148,092,000% 76 > RN R R KEF
SRR R A B ORI > R > T i R AERE
1 7 T B & A R N AR R RS B AR -
Jite 75 S 61 AR R 5 oK T R A TR R R A M R OR
LTt o HBREECovid- 1982 1 4w B 1A H A i Ah ik %
N SEBR IR > A F %P B S oA T B AR A
R TR o I B B U AL B I A
Y 4 bbb — B AR BE A8 T.0% I A B AR 4R JE I
80.9% o

STk

AREEWBHRE E— BBU4EENI22% LT E
13.9% > B iR BRI RE & B KCEB 238D »
JLAN A 452 ) 2 A B B AR o AR > P A R
A T B > B 540 i B R iy b — B AR
52% F B EAMEFER2.2% » HKE T E 4 BKEBMN
BRI RER -
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Trade Receivables Turnover

Trade receivables turnover days was improved to 24 days (2021: 28
days) after impairment allowance to trade receivables, attributable to
the relatively higher proportion of sales deriving from customer groups
of wet market whose credit payment days are normally shorter.

Inventory Turnover

Inventory turnover days were 106 days (2021: 103 days) and the
closing inventory for the current year increased to approximately
HK$52,894,000 (2021: approximately HK$32,168,000) due to
significant decrease in orders from distributors and restaurants caused
by tightening social distancing measures including cessation of mass
events and dine-in services at catering businesses under evolving
Covid-19 epidemic situation.

Operating Expenses to Sales

The Group’s ratio of operating expenses to sales was 18.4% (2021:
16.0%). The increase in expenses was mainly attributable to the
increase in selling and distribution expenses of the trading business
driven by supply chain disruption amid pandemic, which was partially
off-set by the reduction of impairment loss to the trade receivables and
the receipts of Covid-19 related government grants and subsidies.

Food Business Investment

The Group continues to hold approximately 29.98% equity interest of
FSMHL as a strategic investment in the food business.

During the period under review, the business of FSMHL was affected
by the Covid-19 and its related containment measures resulted in
supply chain disruptions, which led to a significant increase in sales
and distribution expenses. The fifth wave of the epidemic also had
an impact on FSMHL’s retail and catering businesses. During the
period, it introduced a large number of Japanese food products from its
subsidiary, Miyata Co., Ltd., to develop more food agency business,
and at the same time, to expand other food businesses in different
areas. New products include Japanese eggs, Japanese milk, Japanese
tofu, Japanese food and Japanese rice, etc., were very popular in the
market.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group’s share of
profit from FSMHL was HK$3,789,000 (2021: HK$9,035,000).

BT S J ik o

B WA B 5 M sk O P U1 A S R 24 R (R 4
28K) > A%y JE L G PR B P R A 8 4 LU I
T % i 355 1 5 98 ok R WOk e o

R

FERMEM 106K (R4 103R) » A
A B Y R 7 £ BB i & 452,894,000 6 (&
4R £932,168,000%7C) 0 T3 HINEAR B AL B
Covid-19% 1% T AL BB 45 i Uk 2% > B35 8 R
1k K TR 555 B i £ MR > 43 6 v A R R 1 ET BRI
;])ﬁ/b °

AL 8 B b

AREFEMREEHENEFENLRE184% (ZF
AR 1 16.0%) o BA S B 32 TE il R e T At HE S
o 7 5 B B SR A A % A B B S o MR A
FH WSk < Uk L s 8 9 A B IR Covid- 199 15 4 B
R il B T i O B BG4 o

R B

2 45 T 0 4 T DY O 45 T 2 I i 25 492998 %A By
HA A BRI PR o

B Y o YN 4 T Y 32 2 B Covid- 1988 1 8
2 T A B 3 o S it 2 0 E g b B A BN KA
8 BR S R 3G 5 5B T Pl % R S DY DN 48 T B BB
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AMREHARES s B A RRBEE » M
¥ e AR [ S0 0 04 X L SE S BT AL HG H AR
B HARS AAREEAEAKE s WEZ WS
o o

BEZF - HEZHA=Z+T—HILBMBEEE > KEMH
A B DY Y 4 ] A R4 A 4 3,789,0009 00 (& = —
£ 19,035,000 7C) ©
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Distribution Business

Food distribution is the core business of FSMHL. It has developed
steadily over the years and has a large and diversified distribution
network. Customers include department stores, supermarkets,
convenience stores, fast food restaurants, wholesalers, retailers,
restaurants, bars, hotels and airlines, etc., to meet the different
needs of Hong Kong consumers. FSMHL has also cooperated with
well-known food manufacturers all over the world from more than ten
countries and regions, covering a wide range of products, including ice
cream, eggs, tofu, rice, milk, snacks, milk powder, health food, plum
wine, soy sauce, ham and sausage, etc. FSMHL will continue to look
for more well-known brands to bring new tastes and experiences to
consumers, strengthen its own brand and increase business income.

During the period under review, FSMHL completed its full acquisition
of Miyata with an aim to further explore the Japanese market and
expanded the Group’s food agency business. Miyata has a long history
in Japan and owns a strong retail and distribution network with a vast
customer base. Its products can be found in famous supermarket chains
and convenience stores across the country, including national retail
group leader AEON, Daiso and Muji, as well as regional retailers,
wholesalers, exporters and overseas customers.

Manufacturing Business

Food hygiene, safety, and quality have always been the priority
of FSMHL, whose motto is: “Eating Safely, Eating Happily”. It
has set up a sound monitoring system to ensure its products are
safe, high-quality, and delicious. Through stringent quality control
and advanced production monitoring systems, FSMHL takes great
pride in the quality of its products. FSMHL has received numerous
accreditations such as the “HACCP”, “ISO 90017, “ISO 22000~
and “GMP” certifications, the Hong Kong Q-Mark License given to
participants of the “Hong Kong Q-Mark Scheme” for over 30 years”,
and the “Hong Kong Cooking Oil Registration Scheme Companion
Certification”, awarded by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency.
The certifications are a testimony to the quality of the Group’s food
products and the standards it demands of itself. FSMHL has 19 plants
in Mainland China, Hong Kong and Japan where it manufactures a
wide range of unique food products. With its one-stop production and
targeted sales strategies, it is capable of meeting market demand and
bolstering its leading status in the industry.

Retailing and Catering Business

In view of the harsh pandemic prevention measures in Hong Kong and
mainland, such as the cessation of dine-in services and lockdowns,
the catering business was heavily influenced. Despite the obstacles,
FSMHL was still seeking a breakthrough while maintaining stable
daily operations. Its Chinese and Japanese restaurants are well
known and loved for their appetizing dishes, efficient management,
and remarkable services. The Japanese snacks store “Okashi Land”
of FSMHL has been dedicated to bringing Japanese on-trend
refreshments to consumers in the local market and has recently added
special counters for Japanese ice cream.

—EooEER |
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Liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers. As at 31
March 2022, the Group had banking facilities of approximately
HK$200,753,000 of which 18% had been utilised. The Group had
a gearing ratio of 6% as at 31 March 2022. This is expressed as the
total interest-bearing bank borrowings to equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group, mainly
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, are mainly trust receipt loans (the
“Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings”) at prevailing market interest
rates. The Interest-Bearing Bank Borrowings which are classified
as current liabilities are repayable within one year. As at 31 March
2022, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of approximately
HK$92,452,000. There were no significant changes in the Group’s
contingent liabilities and no charges on the Group’s assets as at the
end of the reporting period.

Staff employment

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2022
was 65. Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference
to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are
normally reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other
relevant factors.

L ) % 4 B S 0 O

AREE—BURNBRBE LS K EEARBITRE
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company present their
report and the audited financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries and associates
are set out in notes 1 and 16 to the financial statements, respectively.

Further discussion and analysis of these activities as required by
Schedule 5 to the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a
description of the principal risks and uncertainties the Group facing
and an indication of the likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement”
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” set out on pages 4 to
14 of this annual report. In light of the Environmental, Social and
Government Reporting Guide as set out in the Appendix 27 of the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”),
a separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be
published in due course.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2022 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on

pages 51 to 143.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend in
respect of the year.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the published results and the assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years,
as extracted from the published audited financial statements and
restated as appropriate, is set out below:

YA 5 R B 2

ACSR B 2 T A B AR B E M 2 SRR R B E ~ R
AR B IR 3 SRR 2 2 SRR 8% B LT 38 2 AR

S 5 R o B M LB > I T

Year ended 31 March
BEZHA=Z1T—HILEE

2022 2021 2020 2019 2018
TR SRR DRORE DERUE DR\
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BWToC B TOC WL BWTFoL  BEFTL
RESULTS e
CONTINUING OPERATIONS HEREBELE
REVENUE KA 183,133 131,120 140,048 151,102 151,886
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR #HKEBEBZEN
FROM CONTINUING wAL (1)
OPERATIONS (15,760) (3,739) (24,056) 188,226 78,100
DISCONTINUED OPERATION B #1L#8 %%
LOSS FOR THE YEAR FROM A DBXRILESEKZ
DISCONTINUED OPERATION N g - - - = (11,755)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR A4 % H]
(fE18) (15,760) (3,739) (24,056) 188,226 66,345
Attributable to: 5 g Y
Equity holders of the Company AT RE R T (17,337) (4,162) (24,111) 188,050 66,620
Non-controlling interests I 4 B HE £ 1,577 423 55 176 (275)
(15,760) (3,739) (24,056) 188,226 66,345
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EEERE
SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION (continued) W R ()
As at 31 March
BR=H=+—H
2022 2021 2020 2019 2018

TRTTUE DR R ORE ZFUE ZFB)\E
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000
BT BEFTIL EEToL  EWFoL  BEFETFC

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ as K B
TOTAL ASSETS O 685,246 684,036 657,163 704,379 674,190
TOTAL LIABILITIES =R (80,277) (59,164) (52,433) (52,947) (192,176)

604,969 624,872 604,730 651,432 482,014

The information set out above does not form part of the audited I ol NI S A R L A B e Y — SR A o

financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL WA

There were no movements in the Company’s share capital during the T AR A A ] JBe A I 41 53 iy o

year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES o {5k 23 0% G A

At 31 March 2022, the Company’s reserves available for distribution, MREZFEZ_HF=H=1+—H > HIBEFELA T KL F
calculated in accordance with the provisions of Sections 291, 297 291 ~ 297 K299 51 5% » AR 24w W] 4k 43 IR 2 ok 2
and 299 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, amounted to 191,505,000% 7T ©

HK$191,505,000.

BORROWINGS 5% 7k

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings at the end of the reporting A A [ 35 B R 2 SR AT A R ) A B s R
period are set out in note 24 to the financial statements. P 5E24 -

EC_FFR | BEEERR
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive directors:

TAI Chun Kit (Chairman)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) (Retired on 1 April 2022)
TSE Siu Wan

Non-executive director:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen

Independent non-executive directors:

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
CHEUNG Wing Choi
WONG, Louis Chung Yin

Mr. Yip Wai Keung, Mr. Chan Kin Wai, Joseph, Mr. Chan Kwok
Leung, Mr. Liu Hiroshi and Mr. Shohei Kamimura serve as directors
of the Company’s subsidiaries during the year.

In accordance with articles 105(A) of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. Tai Chun Kit, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and
Mr. Cheung Wing Choi shall retire and being eligible, will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
(“AGM”).

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John, Mr. Cheung Wing
Choi and Mr. Wong, Louis Chung Yin pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and the Company is of the view that all independent
non-executive directors are independent.

g
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o o
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract with the Company which is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board of
directors with reference to directors’ involvement in the Company’s
affairs, experience, responsibilities and the prevailing market level
of remuneration of executives of similar positions, and reviewed by
the remuneration committee of the Company. Details of remuneration
of the directors are set out in note 8 to the financial statements.
Particulars of the duties and responsibilities of the remuneration
committee are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

During the year ended 31 March 2022, a permitted indemnity
provision as defined in the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance was in
force for indemnities against liabilities incurred by the directors of the
Company to a third party.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 30 to the financial statements, no director
nor a connected entity of a director had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to the business of the Group to which the Company or any
of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for employment contracts, no other contracts relating to the
management and/or administration of the whole or any substantial part
of any business of the Group were entered into or subsisted for the
year ended 31 March 2022.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2022, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”), were as follows:

—BCoFER |
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

T B dp v AT O EUR AR 2 i AT B R 86 2 1
JBe Ay B M B B Ay 2 M4 B R AT ()

JRAC 2y w3 BBy 2 A

Number of ordinary shares held,
capacity and nature of interests

Pt 4 5 0 B B Oy Z W H B B e 2 T

Personal Corporate Approximate

interests interests percentage of

(held as (interests of the Company's

beneficial controlled Total total issued

owner) corporation) interests shares

ARE AN C AT

il A 2 (€3 3] JBe By 48 ¥ 2 B 24

Name of directors W AW (ERRA) ZhE) BE 25 B8 51 H ol

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s 6,730,000 84,009,177 © 90,739,177 34.95%

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John ¥ #&Jy 800,000 = 800,000 0.31%
Notes: iiF:a

(i) Such shares comprise:

(a) 30,914,000 shares, representing approximately 11.91% of the

® %S By LA

(a)

Company’s total issued shares, are held by Careful Guide Limited
(“CGL”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen.
Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, is deemed to be

interested in the 30,914,000 shares held by CGL;

(b) 52,907,250 shares, representing approximately 20.38% of the (b)
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Special Access Limited
(“SAL”), which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be

interested in the 52,907,250 shares held by SAL; and

(c) 187,927 shares, representing approximately 0.072% of the (c)
Company’s total issued shares, are beneficially owned by Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”). CGL and SAL, whose
beneficial owners are set out under Notes (i)(a) and (i)(b) above,
in aggregate hold more than one-third of the total issued shares of
FSMHL. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse,
Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to be interested in the

187,927 shares held by FSMHL.

I 2£30,914,000 8 B4y > Al A A | &8 AT
ey # 95 £911.91% > J5 HCareful Guide
Limited ([CGLJ) 6 > CGLHI i #7515
AEEEER - B > HEHE A LB
PR BER CGLRTFH 230,914,000/ it 4 =
RE2S 3

I 552,907,250 B4y > Al A 2\ 8 AT
B 48 0 #920.38% > J3 HiSpecial Access
Limited ([SALJ) ¥4 > SALHI p 8 £ 1 5
AEREEMBWEE L L&A - HIk
7 2 W SR A R R BEFT SAL
A 252,907,250 Rty 2 Wi 5 K

M2 187,927 B Ay > Al A A W) BB AT
1 B89 £90.072% » 7% B Y PN 4R A BR A
A (TPIPNEE ]) BB - MICGL&SAL
(HLPr 35 A N b SCHE G () K () (b))
A S H AT DU AR R =4 — 2 BT R
Mg o R Bb o P MG A R LM W SE A
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in ordinary shares of an associated corporation

Director’s interests in the equity of FSMHL as an associated
corporation are as follows:

Report of the Directors

EEEHRE

T B dpt v AT WO EUR AR 2 i AT B R 86 2 1
JBe Ay B M B B Ay 2 M4 B R AT (F)

TP VB 2 I B OB By 2 % A
A3 S AR A U s T — O T R A B A 2

T

Number of ordinary shares held,

capacity and nature of interests

P 5 05 T B B Oy 2 B H - B O B b 2

Approximate

Personal Corporate percentage of

interests interests such associated

(held as (interests of corporation's

beneficial controlled Total total issued

owner) corporation) interests shares

2 W) B A Mg LM e

il A 22 (FEW A7 AT ey A8

Name of director W AW (B FH) ZHEzR) B AGET ZXBAZAESR

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen A = 259,478,000 259,478,000 67.52%

Notes: Mt -

(i)  Such shares comprise: (6] A B B

(a)

(b)

©

70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 18.22% of the total
issued shares of FSMHL, are held by CGL, which is wholly owned
by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, is deemed to be interested in the 70,000,000 shares
held by CGL;

74,250,000 shares, representing approximately 19.32% of the total
issued shares of FSMHL, are held by SAL, which is wholly owned
by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung,
Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly are deemed to be interested in the 74,250,000 shares
held by SAL; and

115,228,000 shares, representing approximately 29.98% of the total
issued shares of FSMHL, are held by Capital Season Investments
Limited, which is wholly owned by Advance Finance Investments
Limited (“AFIL”). Since AFIL is wholly owned by the Company,
which in turn Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, SAL, CGL and FSMHL
in aggregate hold more than one-third of the total issued shares of
the Company, and therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, are deemed to have interests in
the 115,228,000 shares of FSMHL.

—BCoFER |

(a)

(b)

(c)

I %870,000,000/8 1B 4y > Adi 4 94 45 ) © %
17 B A S8 B #918.22% > JA HICGLYR A » T
CGLAI Wk 28 H A - ik » 1
EHHEA L LW B BEECGLIIREZ
70,000,000/8 4y Z #E 25 5

I 474,250,000 B4 > 4k Y N 4R [ © B
174 BB M 4919.32% » JH HSALF: A » T
SALHI phy 8 78 W g A % O A W S5 A &+
EEEEAR o Kb > WMIEWRAE RWER L
A % HER SAL BT R Z74,250,000 /8 B
2z s &

BB 55115,228,000/8 e 4% > Al 7Y 9 45 141 © 5%
A7 I8 4 #4810 #129.98% » J3 HiCapital Season
Investments Limitedff # & > WfiCapital
Season Investments LimitedHll HAdvance
Finance Investments Limited ([ AFIL]) & &
BEA o MRAFILTIAR A F 2B HEA - WA
AR BRI Z 4y — 2 CEEAT B O 8 84
P 3R R 2 - SAL ~ CGL K Y 9 45 [ 45
A oo FINE > BPEE A RI MW ERL
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EEEHRE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in ordinary shares of an associated corporation
(continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests and short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, none of the directors and chief
executive of the Company (including their spouses and children under
the age of 18) had been granted, or exercised any rights to subscribe
for shares of the Company and its associated corporation required to
be disclosed pursuant to the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted to
any of the directors or their respective spouses and minor children, or
were any such rights exercised by them; or was the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2022, the following parties (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are disclosed
above) had interests of 5% or more in the issued shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions in ordinary shares of the Company

Report of the Directors
EEEHRE

B SO AR 4 IRy B M I B B 2 M4 B
RIR A

A2 AR A 7 B B A8 SR 3 36k 2 BLE T fE B 2
Bk > RoFHE=A=+—H KL
SC T 06 8 JL i A 2 AR R R AT BN B A
IR AN LA A A 7 BT A 5% 8 DL 2 5

TREAC 2y W) ¥ OB By 2 5

Number of ordinary shares held,
capacity and nature of interests

i 5 0 B B B 2 S H ~ S i 2

Direct/

personal Corporate Approximate
interests Family interests percentage of
(held as interests  (interests of the Company's
beneficial (interests controlled Total total issued
owner) of spouse)  corporation) interests shares
HE/ FIHER 2 ) B A AR 2w
Name of substantial 1IN 7 (HL% (Pl A W i3 vd
shareholders FERHAHH (B#HH) 2 Hids) 2 Hids) B 25 B BEAH 2
SAL 52,907,250 © - - 52,907,250 20.38%
CGL 30,914,000 @ - - 30,914,000 11.91%
WU Mei Yung, Quinly WA = 37,644,000 @ 53,095,177 ™ 90,739,177 34.95%

Notes: Mat -
(i) SAL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his spouse, (i) SALV/HBMEWLERKEMNERSLLEEH

(i)

Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. This interest is also included as a corporate
interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and described in Note (i)(b) in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any
associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of
the Company”.

CGL is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. This interest is
also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
described in Note (i)(a) in the above section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and/or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any associated corporation” under “Long
positions in the ordinary shares of the Company”.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(iii) Out of the 37,644,000 shares, 6,730,000 shares (representing
approximately 2.59% of the Company’s total issued shares) are held
by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen. Therefore, his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei
Yung, Quinly, is deemed to have an interest therein. This interest is
also included as a personal interest of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary
shares of the Company”. The remaining 30,914,000 shares, representing
approximately 11.91% of the Company’s total issued shares, are held
by CGL. This interest is also included as a corporate interest of Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen and described in Note (i)(a) in the above section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of the
Company”.

(iv) Out of the 53,095,177 shares, 187,927 shares (representing approximately
0.072% of the Company’s total issued shares) are beneficially owned by
FSMHL. The remaining 52,907,250 shares, representing approximately
20.38% of the Company’s total issued shares, are held by SAL. These
interests are also included as corporate interests of Mr. Tai Tak Fung,
Stephen and described in Notes (i)(b) and (i)(c) in the above section
headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any associated
corporation” under “Long positions in the ordinary shares of the
Company”.

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2022, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/
or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company
or any associated corporation”) had any interests and short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the
SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

There was no outstanding share option at the beginning and at the end
of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2022, no share option had
been granted under the share option scheme adopted by the Company
on 28 August 2012 (the “Scheme”). Details of the Scheme are set out
in note 27 to the financial statements.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 39, has been an executive director of the
Company since May 2013. Mr. Tai is the chairman of the Group.
Mr. Tai holds a Bachelor of Business Administration (Hons) degree
from City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Tai has contributed to
various sectors of the community and currently holds positions
as member of Jiangxi Committee of Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference, director of China Overseas Friendship
Association, committee member of The Chamber of Hong Kong
Listed Companies General Committee, chairman of The 13th
Military Summer Camp For Hong Kong Youth, the non-official
member of Hong Kong Immigration Department Users’ Committee,
executive vice chairman of Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of
Foreign Investors, vice chairman of Hong Kong Guangdong Youth
Association, member of Friends of Hong Kong Association Limited,
committee member of Concerted Efforts Resource Centre, member of
the Association of the Hong Kong Members of Guangdong’s Chinese
People’s Political Consultative Conference Committees and committee
member of Hong Kong Trade Development Council Mainland
Business Advisory Committee. Mr. Tai is the managing director
and an executive director of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited
(“FSMHL”), an associated corporation of the Company and the shares
of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Mr. Tai
is currently an independent non-executive director of Niche-Tech
Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tai joined the Group in 2012, he is the son of Dr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen, a non-executive director of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 66, has been an executive
director of the Company since July 1995. Mr. Man is the managing
director of the Group, responsible for the overall management
planning and control. Mr. Man has a Master of Commerce degree
from the University of New South Wales in Australia. He is also a
member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He has gained extensive experience in finance and
accounting from overseas multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined
the Group in 1992. He was also an executive director of FSMHL.
Mr. Man retired as an executive director and the managing director of
the Company with effect from 1 April 2022 and he ceased acting as an
executive director of FSMHL since then.

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 61, has been an executive director of the
Company since August 1992. Mr. Tse is responsible for the food
quality control of the Group. He has extensive experience in food
manufacturing and factory production management. Mr. Tse joined the
Group in 1980. He is also the managing director of Hong Kong Ham
Holdings Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of FSMHL.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Non-executive Director

Dr. the Honourable TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS,
JP, PhD (honoris causa), aged 74, has been an executive director of
the Company since May 1997 and re-designated as a non-executive
director since 23 February 2021. He has been awarded the Grand
Bauhinia Medal, Gold Bauhinia Star, Silver Bauhinia Star and
Justice of the Peace by the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region. He served as a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference
(“CPPCC”) from 2003 to 2018, during which period he was a standing
committee member of the CPPCC from 2008 to 2018. He is currently
a standing committee member of the Guangdong Provincial Committee
of the CPPCC. Dr. Tai was awarded the Order of the Rising Sun, Gold
and Silver Rays by the Government of Japan in 2017 in recognition
of his contributions towards the promotion of Japanese food products
in China. He is currently a member of the Board of Trustees of Jinan
University and serves several public positions, including the president
of the Hong Kong Foodstuffs Association, the honorary president of
Friends of Hong Kong Association, the founding chairman of the Hong
Kong CPPCC (Provincial) Members Association, the chairman of the
Hong Kong Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors and a special
advisor to China National Food Industry Association. He received a
number of awards including Hong Kong Distinguished Brand Leader
Award conferred by Hong Kong Brand Development Council and the
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong Kong and Industrialist
of the Year Award conferred by Federation of Hong Kong Industries.
Other accolades include Asia’s Leading Food Entrepreneur of the
Year 2020, Certificate of Honor for Business Lifetime Achievement
for Producing Quality Food Products, the Worldwide Prominent Chiu
Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013, the World Outstanding
Chinese Award, the Philanthropist Award of the Grand Charity
Ceremony 2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service Award
of Japan, the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and
Fisheries of Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the
Outstanding Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry,
the China Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished
Management Entrepreneur, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”,
“Honourable Citizen of Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen
of Jilin City” in Mainland China. He is also the founder, chairman
and executive director of FSMHL, and a director of Careful Guide
Limited and Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial
shareholders of the Company. Dr. Tai is also a non-executive director
of The Sincere Company, Limited, the shares of which are listed on
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Tai is the father of Mr. Tai
Chun Kit, chairman of the Group and an executive director of the
Company, and the managing director and an executive director of
FSMHL.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LAN Yee Fong, Steve John, aged 81, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since January 1998. He was
the chairman of Evergreen Consultants Limited, president of Swire
Insurance Limited and chairman of Zurich Financial Services Group,
Hong Kong. Currently, Mr. Lan is the chairman of The Hong Kong
Tuberculosis, Chest and Heart Diseases Association, the chairman of
the Hospital Governing Committee of Grantham Hospital, a member
of the Hospital Governing Committees of Ruttonjee Hospital and Tang
Shiu Kin Hospital, and a member of the management committee of
Freni Care and Attention Home. He is a graduate of The University of
Hong Kong and a fellow of The Chartered Insurance Institute. Mr. Lan
has extensive experience in the insurance industry with intensive
involvement in corporate development.

Mr. CHEUNG Wing Choi, aged 67, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since August 2016.
Mr. Cheung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree and a Postgraduate
Diploma in Information Processing from University of Queensland
in Australia. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, an associate member of the Chartered
Institute of Management Accountants in the United Kingdom and
a Chartered Global Management Accountant. He has over 30 years
of professional and commercial experience both in Hong Kong and
Australia.

Mr. WONG, Louis Chung Yin, aged 40, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since August 2020. Mr. Wong
holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from Macquarie University in
Australia. He has numerous years of experience in investment and
management of trading, retailing and food and beverage businesses, as
well as marketing experience in retailing and wholesaling of high-end
products.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management

Ms. YAM Wai Wah, Jenny, aged 51, is the financial controller and
company secretary of the Company for the period from 1 October
2021 to 31 March 2022. Ms. Yam holds a bachelor’s degree of
Accounting and Financial Analysis from The University of Warwick
in the United Kingdom. She is a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and a Fellow of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms Yam has extensive
experience in finance and accounting and had worked for several
publicly listed companies. She resigned from all positions with the
Company on 1 April 2022.

Ms. NG Ching Mei, aged 47, is the financial controller and company
secretary of the Company with effect from 1 April 2022. Ms. Ng
holds a bachelor degree of Business Administration in Accounting and
Finance from the University of Hong Kong and is a fellow member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She has
extensive experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financial
management. Prior to joining the Company, she had worked for
several publicly listed companies and multinational corporations.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for 78%
of the total purchases for the year and purchases from the largest
supplier included therein amounted to 40%.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares) had any
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALES OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2022.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the year under review, the Group had the following continuing
connected transactions, certain details of which are disclosed in
compliance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

The following continuing connected transactions are exempt from the
independent shareholders’ approval requirement under Rule 14A of the
Listing Rules, and the respective amount has not exceeded the relevant
annual cap as disclosed in the announcement dated 25 March 2021 and
7 December 2021.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Purchase of premium beef and beef products

On 21 September 2018, the Company entered into a master supply
agreement (the “Master Supply Agreement”) with Kamichiku Holdings
Co., Ltd. (the “Supplier”) for the Group’s purchase of premium beef
and beef products from the Supplier and/or its subsidiaries. The Master
Supply Agreement expired on 31 March 2021, on 25 March 2021,
the Company entered into a new master supply agreement with the
Supplier for a period of three financial years ending 31 March 2024. A
supplemental agreement (the “Supplemental Agreement”) was entered
to revise the annual cap to meet the increase in both sales volume and
estimate future sales volume.

As the Supplier is interested in 40% of FS-Kamichiku Company
Limited, a 60% held non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, the
Supplier is a connected person at the subsidiary level of the Company
and the entering into of the Master Supply Agreement and the
Supplemental Agreement constitutes continuing connected transactions
for the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the continuing
connected transactions were disclosed in the announcement dated 21
September 2018, 25 March 2021 and 7 December 2021.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the amount paid by the Group to
the Supplier for the purchase of premium beef and beef products was
approximately HK$32,961,000 which did not exceed the annual cap
for 2022 of HK$36 million.

The independent non-executive directors of the Company have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions in relation to the
purchases of premium beef and beef products set out above and have
confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were entered
into (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i1) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) according to the
agreement governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Company’s shareholders as a whole.

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditors, were engaged to report on
the Group’s continuing connected transactions for the year ended 31
March 2022 in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other Than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and with
reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ernst &
Young have issued their unqualified letter containing their findings
and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed above by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the
Listing Rules. A copy of the auditors’ letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, other significant related party transactions
entered into by the Group during the year ended 31 March 2022 set
out in the note 30 to the financial statements included transactions that
constitute continuing connected transactions and are fully exempt from
shareholders’ approval, annual review and disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of
this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting system and internal control procedures. The audit committee
comprises the independent non-executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and work of the audit committee is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual
general meeting. There has been no change of auditor in the past three
years.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Chun Kit
Chairman

Hong Kong
29 June 2022
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Annual Report™).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below
Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders of
the Company. The Company believes that good corporate governance
is essential to continuous growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of and complied with the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”) with the
exception of code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code, details
are set out below.

The CG code and code provisions specified in this Corporate
Governance Report refer to the CG code and code provisions refer to
the CG code and code provisions prior to their amendments effective
on 1 January 2022.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of
prudent and effective controls which enables risk (including but not
limited to business, operation as well as environmental, social and
governance (“ESG”) risks) to be assessed and managed; delegate
authorities to the management to manage and supervise the business
of the Group; and ensure the management monitor performance
against objectives being set.

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to
the management which include the day-to-day business operation of
the Group, execution of corporate strategies, approval of business
and financial plans and budgets and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and the financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition

The Board of the Company comprises seven directors consisting
of three executive directors, one non-executive director and three
independent non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board W oF - HE=ZH=Z+—H EFGAFFRET
and Board’s Committees as at 31 March 2022: Z RN T R B R R -

#gE (4)
wHAAS

AnvZEREGH- LA EFAR > P =4 BT
B ~ARERTERE A=A MBI TES -

Board of Directors

WA

Executive directors

HITHEF

TAI Chun Kit (Chairman)

WOEGE (%)

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director)'
SCIKFE (AP !

TSE Siu Wan

wAE

Non-executive director
HHATHF
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen

Independent non-executive directors
W r I H AT #H

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John

Loy

CHEUNG Wing Choi

RS

WONG, Louis Chung Yin

BB

Company Secretary

AR

YAM Wai Wah, Jenny?
li%-$ =

Audit Committee

HREHA

CHEUNG Wing Choi (Chairman)
REEA (M)

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
Loy

WONG, Louis Chung Yin
by

Remuneration Committee
HMERE

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John (Chairman)
Wi (EH)

TAI Chun Kit

WO

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis'
K FE!

CHEUNG Wing Choi
REA

WONG, Louis Chung Yin
B

Nomination Committee
RAEZHE

TAI Chun Kit (Chairman)
WG ()

MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis’
SCK !

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John
BT

CHEUNG Wing Choi
RS

WONG, Louis Chung Yin
B
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Composition (continued)

1. Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis retired from the positions as an
executive director and managing director of the Company, and
ceased to be the member of remuneration committee and nomination
committee of the Board with effect from 1 April 2022.

2. Ms. Yam Wai Wah, Jenny resigned as the company secretary of
the Company with effect from 1 April 2022.

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships
among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of
Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of
this Annual Report.

Corporate Governance Report
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Board Meeting WEEHR
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance B K B e 5 MR
The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and AT N E T BA B o W N T AR oy ] 2
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial g BERMMEE IR A EEEE S UK
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as HAbERFHE -
other significant matters.
The Board has convened five regular meetings during the year ended 31 HHREPNBEZ __HA=H=1T—HILEEAH
March 2022 and the attendance record of each director at the said Board TR E W Ok > At Bl o AR A ]
meetings and the general meetings of the Company is set out below: B AkEZ sk T -
Number of meetings attended/held
P 2R 3
Regular Annual

Board Meetings General Meeting
Name of directors W AW W Ak B R AE R &
Executive directors HAr#F
TAI Chun Kit (Chairman) BB (T 5) 5/5 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) KR (B AP ) 5/5 1/1
TSE Siu Wan Az 5/5 1/1
Non-executive director HEHATHEH
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen s 5/5 1/1
Independent non-executive directors W3 I B AT e FF
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John BE 5/5 11
CHEUNG Wing Choi RIS 5/5 1/1
WONG, Louis Chung Yin* B A B 5/5 0/1
* Mr. Wong, Louis Chung Yin was unable to attend the annual general * H A PR B Covid- 1 ORE I BBURHEPR ) » AP B 254 R

meeting of the Company held on 31 August 2021 due to the travel
restrictions caused by the outbreak of Covid-19 pandemic.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms
of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior
management where necessary.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings (continued)

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by the
company secretary. Draft minutes are normally circulated to directors
or committee members for their comments within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’
inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an addition to the Board. Appointments are first considered by
the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the Nomination
Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details in respect
of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to select
and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the section
headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance
Report.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest one-third but not less
than one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1, non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. Currently, Mr. Tai
Tak Fung, Stephen, a non-executive director of the Company, is
appointed for a specific term commencing from 23 February 2021
to 31 March 2022 and is subject to termination by either party by
giving not less than three months’ written notice. He is also subject
to retirement by rotation and re-election at the Company’s annual
general meetings pursuant to Article 105(A) of the Articles of
Association. All independent non-executive directors of the Company
are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to retirement by
rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company
in accordance with the Articles of Association. As such, the Board
considers that sufficient measures have been taken to ensure that the
Company’s corporate governance practices are no less exacting than
those in the CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2, all directors appointed to fill a casual
vacancy should be subject to election by shareholders at the first
general meeting after their appointments. Every director, including
those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the Articles
of Association, any director appointed to fill a casual vacancy shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting and
shall then be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that such
a deviation is not material as a casual vacancy seldom appears and
interval between the appointment made to fill casual vacancy and the
immediate following annual general meeting is short.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 in relation
to continuous professional development to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. From time to time during the year
under review, relevant reading materials on corporate governance,
regulatory developments and changes of accounting standards and
other topics relevant to the Company’s business and director’s duties
and responsibilities have been given to the directors of the Company.
In addition, some directors have been provided with in-house training
and attended seminars and workshops which are relevant to their work
and responsibilities so as to update their technical knowledge and
professional skills during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Participation by individual directors in continuous professional
development during the year under review is summarised below:

Corporate Governance Report

A\ A s
1k %‘/nﬁ%

g (4
W ZFF YRR

AR 3 N R ALAR - W R 2 - BT
JBE B 5T 0 Z T A o e DR A A W) 2 AR 3
B E TR o M 58 2 a0 A AE b B R R R B B
HHETZHERES

EEERCHETARGESETRZ TS
A.6.5M > DL M VB 25 2 ik S B fi o % Ie] R
EREEN . RAREHARFERMEHERCESE B
FBE R T & v A o 2 s B L B A\ R S B
=05k fE S Wk A B B R o BEAh > REBRECF
COEZA=Zt+T—HIEEE s ETEECLEZAN
B B O SRR 4 AR S AT AH B R R e T AR
B o DL BT A AT A4 e M S 2 A B o

7 L A T 2 B A 2 M 90
i

Types of training

Name of directors WwFE AR Rl iRy
Executive directors A7
TAI Chun Kit (Chairman) WGt (L) A,B,C
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis (Managing Director) SCIK A (A A ) A,B,C
TSE Siu Wan Az A,B,C
Non-executive director ES Fiy
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen R e B,C
Independent non-executive directors W3k I B AT T
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [:5F i) A, C
CHEUNG Wing Choi RIS A, C
WONG, Louis Chung Yin i A, C
A - Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums A - WMEMESE RHRE R
B - Attending in-house training sessions B — R AR R IR AR
C - Reading updates on relevant topics related to corporate C - DUSESLA RGBT BOWA B i 2 550 R

governance/regulatory update
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Chairman and Managing Director

Mr. Tai Chun Kit and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis holds the positions
of Chairman and Managing Director respectively during the year under
review. Their respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out
in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for managing the Group’s business, including
implementation of objectives, policies and major strategies and
initiatives adopted by the Board. He is also in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day operation in accordance with the instructions
from the Board.

With the retirement of Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis on 1 April 2022,
his work is taken up by the other senior management of the Company
to ensure that the authority is not be vested in the same person.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at
least three independent non-executive directors, representing one-third
of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director
in respect of his independence and the Company is of the view that
all the existing independent non-executive directors are independent
under the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules up to the date of this Annual Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely the Audit
Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Company’s affairs.
All Board committees of the Company are established with specific
written terms of reference which are available to shareholders upon
request. The terms of reference of the Board committees are also
available for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management
expertise. The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Cheung Wing Choi (Chairman
of Audit Committee), Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John and Mr. Wong,
Louis Chung Yin.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting system and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and review significant financial
reporting judgements, to maintain an appropriate relationship with the
Company’s external auditor and to oversee the audit process.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2022 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2021 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2021 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2022 of the Group.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set
out below:
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Number of meetings attended/held

Name of Audit Committee members BERZEGNHA AR B BTk Y

CHEUNG Wing Choi (Chairman of Audit Committee) A (HHZEH G L) 2/2

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [0 2/2

WONG, Louis Chung Yin ¥ P B 2/2
SECCFFH | ERARREERARAS
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific
written terms of reference and is constituted by three independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John
(Chairman of Remuneration Committee), Mr. Cheung Wing Choi and
Mr. Wong, Louis Chung Yin and two executive directors, namely
Mr. Tai Chun Kit and Mr. Man Wing Cheung, Ellis for the year ended
31 March 2022.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for the remuneration of all directors and senior management
and the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior
management of the Company.

The Remuneration Committee has convened one meeting during
the year to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration policy and
structure; the remuneration packages of all directors and senior
management by reference to the individuals’ performance, skills and
knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities, and performance
and profitability of the Group, and the service contracts of the
directors for the year under review. Details of the remuneration of
each director of the Company are set out in note 8 to the financial
statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the
year are set out below:
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Number of meeting attended/held

Name of Remuneration Committee members FMZEEARBE AN HRBAT R B
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [:5F i)

(Chairman of Remuneration Committee) (M Zs B & L) 1/1
TAI Chun Kit W 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SO 1/1
CHEUNG Wing Choi REEA 1/1
WONG, Louis Chung Yin A B 1/1

For the year ended 31 March 2022, the remuneration of individual of
the senior management, not being the director of the Company, by
band is set out below:

Remuneration band (HK$) 3 T 4R (W)

BRECRCCESAZ T HIREE > BERAL
FEEZ B ARG EAR ZHMAN T

Number of Persons

AY

Nil to 1,000,000 £ %1,000,000

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the financial statements.

2
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and comprises two executive directors, namely
Mr. Tai Chun Kit (Chairman of Nomination Committee) and Mr. Man
Wing Cheung, Ellis, and three independent non-executive directors,
namely, Mr. Lan Yee Fong, Steve John, Mr. Cheung Wing Choi and
Mr. Wong, Louis Chung Yin for the year ended 31 March 2022.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board
diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has convened one meeting during the
year to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assess the independence of the independent non-executive directors of
the Company.

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year
are set out below:
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Number of meeting attended/held

Name of Nomination Committee members RHEZBHGNAHM I TR f T8
TAI Chun Kit (Chairman of Nomination Committee) WHERE (#24 Z 8 & L) 1/1
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SCIRHE 1/1
LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [0 1/1
CHEUNG Wing Choi [ ¥ 1/1
WONG, Louis Chung Yin ¥ fp B 1/1
Nomination Policy 4 Wk

The Board adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”)
which sets out the guidelines and procedures for the Nomination
Committee to consider and make recommendations to the Board for
the appointment of the Director.

The factors listed below would be used as guidelines in assessing the
suitability of a proposed candidate:
(@)

reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment and experience in the industry;

—EooEER |
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)
Nomination Policy (continued)

(c) commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service; and

(e) other factors that the Nomination Committee may consider
appropriate.

Proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary personal
information together with their written consents to be appointed
as Directors. The Nomination Committee may request proposed
candidates to provide additional information and documents, if
considered necessary. The company secretary of the Company shall
call a meeting of the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval. The ultimate responsibility for selection and
appointment of Directors rests with the entire Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Nomination Policy, at any
time as appropriate or at least annually, to ensure the effectiveness of
the Nomination Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any
revisions that may be required, and recommend any such revisions to
the Board for consideration and approval.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage. The
Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Diversity
Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity in the
Board of the Company. Under the Diversity Policy, the Nomination
Committee will consider a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service when
reviewing and assessing the Board composition. The Nomination
Committee has assessed the composition of the Board against these
aspects and has come to the conclusion that it is a balanced board of
directors.

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance
functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board has reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this
Corporate Governance Report.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2022.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities Transaction
by the Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no less
exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by the
employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information of
the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Code
by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2022.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2022. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial
information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the
Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Messrs. Ernst
& Young (“EY™), are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of
this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

External Auditor’s Remuneration

EY have been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2021 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements of
the Company for the year ended 31 March 2022.

For the year ended 31 March 2022, fees paid or payable to EY
amounted to approximately HK$1,625,000 (2021: HK$1,500,000)
for audit and related services and approximately HK$167,000 (2021:
HKS$167,000) for other non-audit services which include the taxation
services.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibilities for maintaining
adequate risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems, including the strategies, policies and
expectations on the oversight, have been designed to manage rather
than to eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s business
objectives. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

Risk management and internal control systems are designed and put
in place with a view to safeguard the Group’s assets and business
operations. In order to successfully implement, support and sustain the
risk management process, the Group has taken into account the factors
including risk-aware culture, risk prioritisation, as well as allocation
of roles and responsibilities. The systems are featured with defined
organisational and management structure with authorities properly
delegated to qualified personnel from different management levels
within the Group.

The regular monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems is mainly conducted by the delegated executive directors and
senior management. With the supervision of the Audit Committee,
the delegated executive directors lead the senior management in
monitoring the setting up and implementation of the risk management
and internal control systems.

Executive directors of the Company determine the business strategies
and objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks (including but not limited to business, operation as well
as ESG risks) the Group is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and therefore are accountable for the effectiveness
of the risk management.

Senior management from different departments identifies and
evaluates the risks (including but not limited to business, operation
as well as ESG risks) which may potentially impact the major
business processes, including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security, monitors the risks and
takes measures to mitigate risks in daily operations.

Periodic meetings are held between the delegated executive directors
and senior management. Standing instructions have been provided to
management of the Group that if any material issue relating to risk
management and internal control systems that may have or have had
a material impact on the business of the Group arise, it should be
reported on a timely basis.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS
(continued)

Internal control procedures are designed to protect the Group’s assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used for business decision or publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement. The internal audit function
reviews the major operational, financial and compliance controls and
risk management function on a continuing basis to cover the major
operations of the Group.

The delegated executive directors and senior management have
reported to the Board the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems for the year under review. The Board has
reviewed the effectiveness of the systems including the adequacy
of resources, staff qualifications and experience of the Group’s
accounting and financial reporting functions and considers that the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group are effective
and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling inside information, monitoring
information disclosure and responding to enquiries.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Cheng Ming Fong resigned as a company secretary of the
Company with effect from 1 October 2021. Ms. Yam Wai Wah, Jenny
was appointed as the company secretary on the same date. During
the year under review, Ms. Cheng and Ms. Yam undertook at least
15 hours of relevant professional training. Ms. Yam resigned as the
company secretary with effect from 1 April 2022 and Ms. Ng Ching
Mei was appointed as the company secretary of the Company on the
same date.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening a General Meeting/Right to call a General Meeting

General meetings may be convened by the directors on requisition of
Shareholder(s) representing at least 5% of the total voting rights of
all the Shareholders having a right to vote at general meetings or by
such Shareholder(s) who has made the requisition (as the case may
be) pursuant to Sections 566 and 568 respectively of the Companies
Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies
Ordinance”). Shareholders should follow the requirements and
procedures as set out in the Companies Ordinance for convening an
extraordinary general meeting.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for Shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s
website at http://www.hongkongfoodinvestment.com.hk.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings/Right to Circulate
Resolution at Annual General Meeting

Pursuant to Section 615 of the Companies Ordinance, shareholders
representing at least 2.5% of the total voting rights of all shareholders;
or at least 50 shareholders (as the case may be) who have a right to
vote at the relevant annual general meeting, may request to circulate
a resolution to be moved at an annual general meeting. Shareholders
should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Companies Ordinance for circulating a resolution for annual general
meeting.

Shareholders’ Enquiries

Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries to the Company’s
registered office at 2905-07, 29/F., Manhattan Place, No. 23 Wang Tai
Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the
Company Secretary.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board adopted a Shareholders’ Communication Policy reflecting
mostly current practices of the Company for communication with
its shareholders. Such policy aims at disseminating information in
relation to the Group to Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, and is reviewed regularly by the Board
to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at http:/www.hongkongfoodinvestment.com.hk
as a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public
access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the Shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the Shareholders at least 21
days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward at Shareholder
meetings including the annual general meeting will be voted on by
poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange after each
Shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) with
the aims to set out the general principles and guidelines that the
Company intends to apply in relation to the payment of dividend to
the shareholders of the Company. The Board may propose the payment
of dividends, in any financial year, if any, with respect to the shares
of the Company on a per share basis, either by way of cash or Shares
that the Board considers appropriate. The declaration and payment
of interim dividends and final dividends (subject to the approval by
the Shareholders in an annual general meeting) shall remain to be
determined at the sole discretion of the Board which will take into
account of the following factors when considering the payment of
dividends:

(a) the financial results of the Group;

(b)

the Shareholders’ interest;
(c) general financial condition of the Group;

(d)

current and future operations of the Group;
(e) liquidity position of the Group;
(f) capital requirements of the Group;

(g) compliance with applicable rules and regulations and the articles
of association of the Company; and

(h) any other factors that the Board may deem relevant.

The Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company in respect of its future dividend and/or
in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or
from time to time.

The Board will continually review the Dividend Policy and reserves

the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and
modify the Policy at any time.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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Ernst & Young TG EIEIEAT
ﬁ i 27/F, One Taikoo Place & /BHIRIBE2EI7I5E
7. 979 King's Road R — 272
Quarry Bay
Hong Kong

To the members of
Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 51 to 143, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2022,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is those matters that, in our professional judgement,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. This matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters. For the matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to this matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Accounting for investments in associates
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As at 31 March 2022, the Group held 29.98% of the issued shares in
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (“FSMHL”), an entity listed on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
As at 31 March 2022, included in the balance of investments in
associates was the investments in FSMHL and its subsidiaries
(collectively the “FSMHL Group”) amounted to HK$416,574,000 and
the share of net profits of them amounted to HK$3,789,000 for the year
then ended.
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The investments in FSMHL Group were accounted for under the equity
method. At the end of the reporting period, management assessed any
impairment required for the investments in FSMHL Group. For the
purpose of the impairment test, the recoverable amount of FSMHL
Group was determined based on a value-in-use calculation using
estimated cash flow projections based on financial budgets applied with
suitable growth rate and discount rate.
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The equity accounting and impairment testing of FSMHL Group were
identified as a key audit matter due to their material balance as at 31
March 2022 and contribution to the Group’s consolidated financial
performance, and significant management judgement and estimates
involved in evaluating the financial results and accounting estimates of
FSMHL Grou ‘%and in performing the impairment test.
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Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 16 to the financial
statements.
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Our audit procedures included, among other things,
instructing the component audit team of FSMHL to
perform an audit on the relevant financial information
of FSMHL for the purpose of the consolidated
financial statements of the Group. We discussed the
risk assessment and audit strategy with the component
team, reviewed their workpapers and obtained their
audit conclusion before issuance of the Group’s
audited financial statements. Also, we checked to the
calculation made by management under the equity
method of accountlnsjfor investments in associates.
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To evaluate the Group’s impairment assessment, we
assessed the indication of impairment of FSMHL as
at the end of the reporting period. We have obtained
the discounted cashflow projection of FSMHL Group
and reviewed the discounted cashflow forecast and
performed sensitivity analysis. We then compared
the recoverable amount from the discounted cashflow
projection with the carrying amount. We have involved
our internal valuation experts to assist us with our
assessment of the methodology and the discount rate
used in determining the recoverable amount of the
FSMHL Group.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

TSRO A7 BB A A B

HAFRESRTHLMGE LA T - JHhES ST
A FEHCE AR o AR R A A B R R AR
A A A% i o

RAE AR M BEBENE RN RELMEL > &
19 95 A B 3% <6 S0 At A5 08,38 R AT A K B A o

A AN B A S M B IR B R > AN B AR R B
AL S > FEROR R P > B8 LAl AE BOR A B4R
S 5 A A A T A A v B AR A 19 DA A
ORI DL P A A T OK B R P R DL o R
T CEAT A AR > SR IA G R A AE B AR AE T
KB > FAM T B % o AR T > K
% A A ] e o

20 A5 S R AUR s Y AR

T v S TURLR A o o S A A R A
S0 75 it o ) D A 9 A ] A0 A5 56 A4 L BT R R A
B A > Sl LR T T 0 i T S A ) A
A A P S G T 25 A K G R R o
PR PR 4 ) L e

TEREM AR T B ORI > AR EFHEE R
B P 5 A RS WY RE ) > A 0 AR DU T B S A
RRE AT B S DL BB B AR A A Ry R AR
FRJREE S0 A RO AR R R R e dE
FoAt BT B AR AR TR o

FERLZHTHY RAREFEOBE BEEF H
A5 T S 5 A AR

e R 7 - B3 0 i AR R I W T AT

BAEY H AL > AR A I R R AR A
> A A AN T A A R e o A R
A 9 2 AR B S5 40510k 5 B 2 R B AR > B
BEDASh » A 3 48 Sl 408 LAt P 98 o SR AS i g A S
et BA 9 2 1o A N b B b ORI AT BT AT -

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022



AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Sai Yu.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

meEB#mEKX O

Year ended 31 March 2022 HE—ZE=-—F=fF=+—HIFE

2022 2021
TR T ;o
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt 7t BT BT
REVENUE A 5 183,133 131,120
Cost of sales B B AR (157,693) (115,110)
Gross profit B 25,440 16,010
Other income and gains, net H A A Wz > B 5 4,510 4,707
Selling and distribution expenses s KA e (24,009) (12,601)
Administrative expenses AT BB 3% (22,321) (20,435)
Other expenses HoAth B X (1,326) -
Finance costs il R AR 6 (776) (872)
Share of profits and losses of associates Al I %5 2> W) 6z A1 % Jiés 16 2,821 9,003
LOSS BEFORE TAX 5 B Wi s 1 7 (15,661) (4,188)
Income tax credit/(expense) iRk, (BA3) 10 99) 449
LOSS FOR THE YEAR AR AR BE i (15,760) (3,739)
Attributable to: BB
Equity holders of the Company AR RER TR # (17,337) (4,162)
Non-controlling interests I i I HE A 1,577 423
(15,760) (3,739)
HK cents HK cents
A Al
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE 7k 2 w) 3% 4 Hi 2%
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS  Pifi ¥ MEfl
OF THE COMPANY 5 B i 11
— Basic and diluted — 3 A R il 11 (6.68) (1.60)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

mEZEBRER

Year ended 31 March 2022 E=ZFE=-—F=A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
S TR
HK$’000 HK$°000
YT BT T
LOSS FOR THE YEAR 7 45 6 s 41 (15,760) (3,739)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)  Jfb & w2~ (ki #)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be HFIRE R I Al GE A A E R 25 2
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: — H A2 EHK 75~ (E18) :
Share of other comprehensive income of R Ay B 5 2 ) G A
associates, net of tax A EE > BRBLAR 7,862 21,702
Exchange differences on translation of foreign I T35 A S B 1 BEE 56 7 7
operations (2,099) (220)
Reclassification adjustment for a foreign subsidiary — F4E N 5% 8 ¥ A1 Fft 8§ A &)
deregistered during the year ) BT 43 JR 1,219 -
Net other comprehensive income that may be Viy i 2NN Y e E
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 18 7 Z F Al 2 T W an A 6,982 21,482
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that will not be HFA R JH R
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: Ras Z H PRz (EHE)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of JRE ARG W 2 A\ ] H At 2 i
associates, net of tax WKk (EH) > BBk (1,745) 1,605
Gain on property revaluation Wy 26 A WA 87 =
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) AFAS B R 1Y [ 3R
that will not be reclassified to profit or P E 18 7 2 H A2 1
loss in subsequent periods Yeas (G 1R) - (1,658) 1,605
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 7 A B Ll 2 i K 2
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX kR Be 1% 5,324 23,087
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS)  AN4E 88 2 wi e 22~ Ol 1)
FOR THE YEAR (10,436) 19,348
Attributable to: oG
Equity holders of the Company NN E Y (12,013) 18,925
Non-controlling interests I 5 e 2% 1,577 423
(10,436) 19,348

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A B AR R &R

31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

2022 2021
—E® E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Kk BT BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I Gt W) ¥
Property, plant and equipment LUE B & A ] 12 34,163 29,710
Right-of-use assets 5 JH W 5 e 13(a) 27,526 17,495
Investment properties ERSgy/ES 14 10,939 -
Investments in associates RS AFZ B 16 416,574 428,050
Prepayments and deposits T AT K AT 4 19 3,851 2,257
Goodwill T 2 15 2,103 2,103
Financial assets at fair value BAPEB WS AR
through profit or loss B 4 L A 20 12,821 8,417
Deferred tax assets 9 7B Bl U A 25 961 464
Total non-current assets J I B B A 508,938 488,496
CURRENT ASSETS R B %5
Inventories T8 17 52,894 32,168
Trade receivables W B 5 IRk 18 14,109 10,057
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — THA} 3R IE ~ 5T 4 Ko H: b B8 03k B 19 8,393 1,044
Due from associates JHE W T 42 2 ) 16 1,698 184
Financial assets at fair value AP E B AR
through profit or loss Iy 4 il 20 6,762 6,999
Cash and cash equivalents & R4S HEE 21 92,452 145,088
Total current assets B A A 176,308 195,540
CURRENT LIABILITIES i By £1 4%
Trade and bills payables JE A B 5 Rk I 5 22 4,241 8,031
Other payables and accruals Al R A 3K I e R LA 23 7,164 5,446
Due to associates JFE A T 42 2\ W) 16 69 1,249
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JRE A I 4 1B Bk 3R 30(b) 4,311 3,057
Tax payable JRE A B IH 556 12
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BT R B Z SRAT B 24 35,235 21,214
Lease liabilities HEAM 13(b) 9,763 6,566
Total current liabilities U B £ AR A A 61,339 45,575
NET CURRENT ASSETS R ) 2 7 O 114,969 149,965
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT 8% A DR ) £ 45
LIABILITIES 623,907 638,461
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES I G ) 1
Accruals JEwH R 23 400 200
Lease liabilities HEAM 13(b) 18,538 13,389
Total non-current liabilities Je 3 B £ R 18,938 13,589
Net assets &R 604,969 624,872
TECCHEER | ERARMREERBRAF
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

M AR BARR KR

31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

2022 2021
S TR
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M itk YT BT T
EQUITY B
Equity attributable to equity holders i B3 R AR 2 W) B 2%
of the Company P A5 % 0 A

Share capital Jie A 26 117,095 117,095
Reserves it # 28 481,623 503,103
598,718 620,198
Non-controlling interests Ik ¥ B BE 2% 6,251 4,674
Total equity HE 25 48 604,969 624,872

TAI Chun Kit 3% B
Director #%H

TSE Siu Wan i 2
Director #HH

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

3¢
mEERBBR
Year ended 31 March 2022 HE—ZE=-—F=fF=+—HIFE
Attributable to equity holders of the Company
KRS A
Share of
Exchange other Non-
Share fluctuation reserves of Retained controlling Total
capital reserve associates profits Total interests equity
Btk
[EdT L VT
Rk it Jetb Bt oA G kERER Bt
HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
#W i #W T #W T #W T #W T #W T #W T
(Note 28)
(Witz8)
At1 April 2020 “EZRENA-H 17,095 (1,322) (6,274) 492,180 601,679 301 604,730
Loss for the year REEEH - - - (416) (4.162) 403 (3.7%9)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that RERWREFARERSZ
may be reclassified to profit or loss in 2l / (B#) -
subsequent periods:
Share of other comprehensive income of T AR A2 m s
associates, net of tax BB - - 21,702 - 21,702 - 21,702
Exchange differences on translation BTN ER M N E H
of foreign operations - (220) - - (220) - (220)
Other comprehensive income that will HAGRERIMER 52 R
not be reclassified to profit or loss in bR g -
subsequent periods:
Share of other comprehensive income TEA TG A M 2 T g »
of associates, net of tax i3k - - 1,605 - 1,605 - 1,605
Total comprehensive income for the year A FEA 2Tl = (220) 3,307 (4,162) 18,925 0 19,348
Acquisition of non-controlling interests YEBEATZINEATZ
of the associates” subsidiaries BRI - - 2 (408) (406) - (406)
Contribution by a non-controlling interest Fe b - - - - - 1,200 1,200
Transfer to share of other reserves HRZEMRAAT bR
of associates - - 582 (582) - - -
At31 March 2021 REBCAEZA=1-0 117,095 (1,542)% 17,617% 487,028+ 620,198 4,674 624872
TECICHEFR | ERARMREEZRBRAA
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REEZEHR

Year ended 31 March 2022 E=ZFE=-—F=A=+—HIFE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

FRTEHAHER
Share of
Exchange other Non-
Share fluctuation reserves of  Revaluation Retained Controlling Total
capital reserve associates reserve profits Total interests equity
KA
Exds  BAAA
Bk B HREE O EWEE REEA i RERER  RREGH
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HE$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
#Hre  #WTL T #WTL #WTL #WTL #FTL WL
(Note 28) (Note 28)
(Wits) — (Witzs)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 REZZ-EZA=1—H
RZRZ-EMA—H 117,095 (1,542)* 17,617% - 487,028+ 620,198 4,674 624,872
Loss for the year REEER - = = = (17,337) (17,337) 157 (15,760)
Other comprehensive income that RAETRERAHE
may be reclassified to profit or loss Bz 2wl -
in subsequent periods:
Share of other comprehensive EAGBE A2 E
income of associates, net of tax Wit > LR - - 7,862 - - 7862 - 7,862
Exchange differences on translation BB ER MR 2R
of foreign operations - (2,099) - - - (2,099) - (2,099)
Reclassification adjustment for a foreign ~ 4F W BHFIM S 4 )
subsidiary deregistered during the year R E - 1,219 = 5 5 1,219 = 1,219
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that FR G G T
will not be reclassified to profit AEERGZ I
or loss in subsequent periods: AT/ (BR)
Share of other comprehensive loss of e A S
associates, net of tax 2HER > RAi% - - (1,745) - - (1,745) - (1,745)
Gain on property revaluation WEEHE - - - 87 - 87 - 87
Total comprehensive loss for the year REEE2EER = (880) 6,117 87 (17,337) (12,013) 157 (10,436)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WEET B AT 2 B AT
of the associates” subsidiaries LR BRI - - 980 - (10447) (9,467) - 9467
Transfer to share of other reserve HRERMREAZ
of associates St et - - 190 - (190) - - -
At31 March 2022 REBZZEZHEH 117,095 (2,422)% 24,904 87+ 459,054% 598,718 6,251 604,969

e These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of
HK$481,623,000 (2021: HK$503,103,000) in the consolidated statement

of financial position.

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

Year ended 31 March 2022 HE—ZE=-—F=fA=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E® E
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wit B 5 7 T
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING BREXGZBERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax Wi 5t i s 5 (15,661) (4,188)
Adjustments for: Tk 51 4% JE A o 2
Finance costs 1§29 %N 6 776 872
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A Bk 22 2 ) s ) A% e 4R (2,821) (9,003)
Bank interest income AT R B A 5 (441) (1,241)
Dividend income from financial assets AT HEBBREGARZ
at fair value through profit or loss b EZ B BB 5 (166) (363)
Write-off of items of property, s ¥~ ME K
plant and equipment w5 TE H 7 29 2
Fair value losses on financial assets HAPHZEBRBRARZ
at fair value through profit or loss A RbE E Z A A S 1E 5} 1,803 803
Covid-19-related rent concessions K H AL ZCovid-19
from lessors B HL 4 T Uk 13 (241) (355)
Depreciation of items of property, Wk W REBEHEZ
plant and equipment reg 7 3,974 2,632
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 55 FHE 5 B B 13 6,473 5,265
Impairment of items of property, W3 ~ B Tk i T H WA
plant and equipment 7 - 864
Impairment of right-of-use assets o T HEE 2 Ak A 7 - 917
Write-down of inventories to net WO AT 18 2 0] 5% B
realisable value 7 281 106
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) WE Wi B 5 HR KA
of trade receivables (458 [m] 3 1L ) 7 (173) 277
Gain on lease termination ME&IEZ Wtk 7 (997) -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - B K&
plant and equipment B E H 2 1R 7 845 -
Impairment of an amount due from JRE WAL B 8 2 ) K T Uk
an associate 7 107 -
(6,212) (3,412)
Increase in inventories FEZHm (21,007) (4,824)
Increase in trade receivables JE W B 5 B Ak = 3 3,879) (364)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and THAT R ~ AT R oAt
other receivables JRE Wik JEL 22 B (8,943) (612)
Movement in balances with associates BLIG ] 2 S5 E S ) (2,801) 156
Movement in balances with a BRI B R 2 AR )
non-controlling shareholder 1,254 (71)
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FEAT R B IR K R Z
bills payables B, (A (3,790) 3,337
Increase in other payables and accruals At B ASF 7k T % M L 2 3G 29(a) 1,718 1,030
Cash used in operations WEEHEMRHZ B4 (43,660) (4,760)
Interest element of lease payments B A 3k 2 A B ER Ay (281) (488)
Hong Kong profit tax refunded/(paid) TR M (B F BB (52) 38
Overseas tax paid A ¥ Hh B IE = (%)
Net cash flows used in operating activities BB Z B (43,993) (5,215)
TECCHEER | ERARMREERBRAF



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERTMER

Year ended 31 March 2022 E=ZFE=-—F=A=+—HIFE

2022 2021
—E TR A
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt 7t T 0 BT T

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BEXHZB LR

ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received U ER AT ) S 441 1,241
Dividends received from an associate W B 7 4 6] 8 10,947 10,947
Dividends received from listed investments LigEZ ol e 166 363
Purchases of items of property, WA~ W K HEEE

plant and equipment (22,100) (5,081)
Purchases of right-of-use assets g A\ P S (568) =
Purchases of financial assets at WEE A FEBERBREARZ

fair value through profit or loss Sl 20 (5,888) (8,803)
Proceeds from disposal of items of WEWE - B R RMEE Z

property, plant and equipment J A% 3K TH 274 -
Net cash flows used in investing activities BEEHEZ2HLER B B (16,728) (1,333)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING 7 V3 ) 2 Bl AR

ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans B B B AT Rk M A R OER B 215,130 85,070
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans 18 TR BRAT Rk A S RO B K (201,109) (84,325)
Principal portion of lease payments MHE MR 2 A4 H 4 29(b) (6,152) (4,397)
Contribution by a non-controlling interest IR TEE - 1,200
Interest paid [ERER DS (495) (384)
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing MEFHZBHERA

activities () F# 7,374 (2,836)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH B4 X3 &% 2

EQUIVALENTS WA 58 (53,347) (9,384)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the F#]Z B4 KBl &% 5EH

year 145,088 154,389
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net A [ 3 55 B 2 > HH 711 83
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BB ERBESHEA

END OF YEAR 92,452 145,088
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH BeRBEFMHEH 250

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and bank balances B4 R BRAT 1R 21 66,212 56,124
Time deposits with original maturity of less KRR AR H AR EZMAZ

than three months when acquired & W AE K 21 26,240 88,964
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB4 %5 HEH 92,452 145,088

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022



1.

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (the “Company”)
is a limited liability company incorporated in Hong Kong.
The registered office of the Company is located at 2905-07,
29/F., Manhattan Place, No. 23 Wang Tai Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group’s principal activities consisted of
the trading of frozen meats, seafood and vegetables, operations
of restaurants, marketing of meat products and communication
and advertising design. The principal activities of associates
are investment holding, the manufacturing and trading of snack
foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles,
ham and ham-related products, and the operations of restaurants.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 R 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

1. 2 B 5 1 2R

HHEMBREERARAF (ARAF]) % —
KN WRE MR 2 A RA R o A4 A Z gk it
P o5 B Hb ik A 7 A 9 I HE L B A AR 239

Manbhattan Place 291#2905-07

BN AREEZ EEEFE R FRBMAR B
e B B AR A -
A B o M AR Z EEEBR BRE
BB~ BOE RSB F R - BER - OBL - R BR
A~ MR~ KRR RO BERE B E > DL R AR R

%o

HY 08 2 ¥ 2 ¥R

A F) E B A F Z AT

Percentage
Place of Issued of equity
incorporation/ ordinary/ attributable to
registration registered the Company
Name and business share capital 72 m) B4 BE 25 7 2> b Principal
HR ) Y ik £in 27 94 Direct  Indirect activities
R X B K ok B A Ak 1A FURH
Capital Season Investments Limited British Virgin US$1 - 100 Investment holding
Islands/ Hong Kong 1378 i d<gdie
EWELTEE /BB
FS-Kamichiku Company Limited Hong Kong HK$11,000,000 - 60 Restaurant
R 11,000,000% 7C operation and trading
of beef products
BERER
AR b 5
Great Benefit Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 100 - Marketing of meat
BRBEERAT R 8,000,000% 76 products
HE 5 P9 B i
Gyumai Catering Company Limited Hong Kong HK$8,000,000 100 - Restaurant operation
FIRRICERA i 8,000,000 & BELE
Spark Communications Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 90 Communication and
kSR B 5 A A R 10,000% 70 advertising design
R B o it
Wealth Creation Company Limited Japan JPY10,000 - 100 Property holding
AR 24 HA 10,000 H [ UES L
William Food Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000,0%) 100 - Trading of frozen
I A PR Bl 200,000,000% 7G meats, seafood
and vegetables
EEIC]
One Global Catering Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,0@ 100 - Restaurant operation
- REHRAF Bl 2,000,000 7T BRELE
TEICFER | ERARmMREERERA
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2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (the “HKICPA”), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss and investment properties which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HKS$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2022. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of
the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

2.1

2 W) B 4R B EOR (A1)

k=t

FY 0 2 vl 2 ¥R (1)

3 BB T A 5 T A R A S
T R B Z MR A ] o A RS M
A, Bk Jag 2> =) 7 £ 3 R 4 OT R

A B HRETIRBEHE BTN G ([FHEE
sl BT 1) AU 2 7 8 B i o ) ([ o
Bk R ) (B I5 0T A W B ol el - &
WA (TR B et ll]) ke k) HH
MERF B 7 o A i wH IR R R A W A m R B o B
N PR 75 AR 2 AR 1 8 il 2 R B3
CAE A RS > A 8 3 75 DL S AR
EARE o AR B AL DWW ([ ]) 25 > B
?ﬁgfﬁ%% » A W VU A B R
Rr o o

BRIk H A e

Ao B 5 R R LG A R LT i A R (LT
GWIAEEMDRE_F__H#=A=1+—H
b BB A B AR o B DB A W) 0 A4 W) LR B
T 4 O R (R A MR ) o B ARCSR
P 38 4 22 B3 S 3 G 04 Bl T R 52 B [ R
Ja i A A ) [ R > S B
B H R 2 Ry (B 7 A 46 [ B A 66 ) 4 51
B 3 5 B 5 B BEAR RE ) 5 B A B R
IRE o B IR 458 ) B o

il AR 2 T AL # B R B B A R K 2 i 1
GBS DURER] > JUI A 45 R A LR 7
A B 15 SRRy W 5 B V)R B R R
HUL > mAE

(a) HBFBHZFILMBRHFHE AN EGHLHE

(b) oAl &2 Pk Pr B AR RERD 5 &
(c) AHE I S ME R VB AR 5
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are
eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three elements of control described in the accounting
policy for subsidiaries above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an
equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i1) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

—EooEER |

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 R 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

2.1 HILE ()

BAIRH 2R (4)

i Jg o> W) SELAS 2 ) 2 B B i A 0 i S A
] o PR FH — Boer at BORSR R - B A Al 2 58
SRR B AR AR Ao AR > 4
BUAR A AR 2% S P A Ik 2 W A ko

AR 2 e L Al 2 VAT A A P 2% AEL IS 43 i Bk R A
AT N R FE e b2 o B AE G 2R 5| Bl v
JBCHEE 2 45 B 2 B o AR R A% W] 2 T
P i U - R - WO B R B
B AR IR R 2 R

i A = T R 1 DL U B SCI g 4y 7] 2 it BOR
P it 2 = ¢ R BE R — JH R % U B
B o J) A G2 T iy T AN LR A R Y U
A PEHIRE o 7 PO S 2 ] B A R 2 2 A ) T Sl
HERLVETINE > ARSI HE RS AR 5

i A< 45 [ 2 2 ) — R B g A Wl 2 45 ki RE > HITEL
RSmROZEME AR EE (BFmRE) LG8
8 ~ Gi)FEfar I e B A 5 =2 HR T A B i) P R 2
MR8k Bt 4 5 RO IR E
AFAE ~ Q)T R AT AT B 2 A K Gii) i
75 o AR A DR e 2R > B BRI AR o SRl B
b 2 T W 25 3 PR Tl o 2 A A T A S Ay R AR Rk
AR B M B R s A TR M
[l HE > A5 SP7 VL EE T 40 2 4 25 AR B A o
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Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9,
HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June
2021

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an
existing interest rate benchmark is replaced with an
alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide
a practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate
to be updated without adjusting the carrying amount of
financial assets and liabilities when accounting for changes
in the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of
financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct
consequence of the interest rate benchmark reform and the
new basis for determining the contractual cash flows is
economically equivalent to the previous basis immediately
preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit
changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform to
be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any
gains or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with
through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure
and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an
RFR is designated as a risk component. The relief allows
an entity, upon designation of the hedge, to assume that
the separately identifiable requirement is met, provided
the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24
months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users of
financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate
benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and
risk management strategy.

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”)
as at 31 March 2022. The Group expects that HIBOR will
continue to exist and the interest rate benchmark reform has
not had an impact on the Group’s HIBOR-based borrowings.
If the interest rates of these borrowings and interest rate
swap are replaced by RFRs in a future period, the Group
will apply this the above-mentioned practical expedient
upon the modification of these instruments provided that the
“economically equivalent” criterion is met.

2.2. FIRtBOR R B8 2 2 )

SR [ ELA AR A R B R R ER A LR AR A
W R R

Tl B 0 o e 5085 ViEe 3T E
FBGRAIE0N  REMEREE  -FoR
HISE7H% ~ 7 A 5 e D 4%

Bl MRS RAE 6% (BT A)
B B A 6% (53T A) ZETERNZF
[ #2Covid-19%]
BHERE

BB RT A s B 25 Sty 4t B T T R 2 Rt
T

(a) A B i Y R AR05E - et Al
SE39UE ~ 7 Wb I o fE A SR TR - A
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the

availability of the practical expedient for lessees to elect not
to apply lease modification accounting for rent concessions
arising as a direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic by
12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient applies to
rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30
June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying the
practical expedient are met. The amendment is effective
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or after 1
April 2021 with any cumulative effect of initially applying
the amendment recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits at the beginning of the current
accounting period.

The Group has adopted the amendment on 1 April 2021 to
all rent concessions granted by the lessors that affected only
payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022 as a
direct consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. A reduction
in the lease payments arising from the rent concessions of
HK$241,000 has been accounted for as a variable lease
payment by derecognising part of the lease liabilities and
crediting to profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2022.
There was no impact on the opening balance of equity as at
1 April 2021.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

2.3 T AUAE R A B 2 A v A R o e

A AR A S R PR B IR A DL C B A
HAR A B Z T Je A RT Z A v A 5 e i ) o

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture’

Insurance Contracts®
Insurance Contracts®”

Initial Application of HKFRS 17
and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information®

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current**

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies?

Definition of Accounting
Estimates®

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction®

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use!

Onerous Contracts - Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract!

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41’

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements -
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align
the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023
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Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for
an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(FRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected
by these amendments on the date of transition.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that
do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to
the extent of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or
joint venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS
10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January
2016 and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current. The amendments specify that if an
entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to
the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has
a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies
require entities to disclose their material accounting policy
information rather than their significant accounting policies.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures. Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in the
amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory,
an effective date for these amendments is not necessary. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments on the
Group’s accounting policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes
in accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies.
Accounting estimates are defined as monetary amounts in
financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty.
The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement
techniques and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and apply to changes in accounting
policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or
after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exception so that it no longer applies to transactions
that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and shall
be applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the
amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other
than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application
is permitted.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG 2.3 ULBUM A0 A A 2 7 8 S 5 ik 4 ¥
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued) (#)
Upon initial on initial application of these amendments, the TEE IR B % 28 5T AR » A< 45 3] 1% B i i) R
Group will recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax B R B AR B % T K R A BT R
liability for deductible and taxable temporary differences 75 ST SRR Sk P 15 B0 R 90 AE P A B B4R >
associated with right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, and S R T % S A WY AR B B R B R A
recognise the cumulative effect of initially applying the B 5 it A e S B e T D 0T A0 AR B v R B 0T 0 AR
amendments as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained o
profits at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented.
Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from EHGFFERFEI65E (BFTAR) 2L EHED
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds S~ WG B R TE B e B A A B
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the B PR Bt e 2 8 IR B P 7R AL B SRR R AR P
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating BEAMIEE 8 M ARIE - ik > B
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity ZEUFS $E 25 e R B B AT T B E 2 Ak
recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost MEETEEH ZRAR o A BTN R F—
of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective H — H 862 1% BH Uk 0 42 B ) R A %% > S 38 9
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and R 7 B R UK M T % S AG T Y B S R b
shall be applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant S5 i f 0 [ B ik sl 2 4% T B0 R A 2 -
and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning W R IEEH - RFFIRFEEN o ZH &R H
of the earliest period presented in the financial statements in A S A A [ 1 A S R R A A A ) K -

which the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of ko T A SE3798 (BERTAR) B » ik 18
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost BV & S R S 37 5% 5P AL A A9 5 B M 4R g
of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly T JBAT A A A A 4 B A0 LR A B B sk
to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include Ao A HEMBMEASTEBITZALMN
both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct WE A (BB TRMB) REBITAEX
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate T B2 HH B A At s A 4 TE (491 4n 43 LB AT A A
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the B - MEAHEEAMITEE D RA
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment )P B A RAR) o — B AT BB AR B A
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management S S B B o BRI AL R A A0 W A 1) 3 05 ik
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not W BAIARGIEAAEN - ZEBFT N 4
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are — J— H 82 1% BA 4R B 4 BE YT A1 AR 2 - 31 HE
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The FH 7 B 87 Fo s UK B FH % S A6 5T e 48 B8 i 7 10
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or HIB G WA BT LA EENAH - RFFRE
after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which HEF - %) 25 ME ) 3% 518 5T AT 1] 251 5% 2551 me
an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning R E K E R H B Z A RE 2R R R > T
of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the B LB R o 3% SR T A g B A
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative Py B 7 R A AR TR R o

effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are
as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new
or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 January 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives when applying HKFRS 16.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. The Group’s investments in associates
is stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at the Group’s share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. The Group’s share of
the post-acquisition results and other comprehensive income of
associates is included in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss and consolidated other comprehensive income, respectively.
In addition, when there has been a change recognised directly
in the equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of
any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated
to the extent of the Group’s investments in the associates, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of
associates is included as part of the Group’s investments in
associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or
loss.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as
incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition date fair value
and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability that is measured
at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at
31 March.  For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4 EEEGHEORHE (A])
POLICIES (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued) XA D v ()
Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit E R MBI E AT (B e EA
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation JCZ AR ) B — B 4 T % B G 0 R Ay 3 Bk
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the W& WAE g E M EEB IR > B &%
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the 5 FH B T R RS AR R IR N o 7E
operation when determining the gain or loss of the disposal. A D0 T H B A R DL B SR B A A
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based S0 B DR B I A7 A A SR M R B B AR A o

on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.

Fair value measurement A PR

The Group measures its investment properties, equity investments AREEP B REMRZAFHEHFTELREY
and club debenture at fair value at the end of each reporting ¥ HBRERGHES - AT HATIHSH
period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell FREHE H IR P2 5 8 R B O
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction A ol A A P A AR o AR R TS
between market participants at the measurement date. The MR S 2 s R A AR 5 B B
fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the AEEET SR (EREERSHELT) L8
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place BGEITMAER o EERRAEARTSEES
either in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the AREFEAHEAZTE  EERKABUAFE
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market ARG B 2 3% G A B A R e DL i
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most advantageous i 48 ) #3547 ST & o

market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of
an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best

interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into I T 0 T E R R TS 2 B e

account a market participant’s ability to generate economic Hig KRR EEME 2 G E B S » 3l

benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling 5 7 B T N g R AR D A A BB

it to another market participant that would use the asset in its WAL SR E » B A MR -
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in 2 45 T SR A4y ) RS A ) 1 ol L LA 7 40 BB DA

the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to Bewt 7P B A5 A 7 15 > DA R A B W)

measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable B2 e A\ BP0 A B R S ) B R e A\ B

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. E-3

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or FIt A R AR B 2 A R M K LA

disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fair TG 37 A P T 2 B S R R K e

value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input W AR R DL T A P2 4 B

that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level I — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active S - FENHE A A R S BT
markets for identical assets or liabilities 5 0 R R 83 %)

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest B - ERBEATESENSEEKX
level input that is significant to the fair value By (H B 32 (R g
measurement is observable, either directly or LW & LR L s 2]
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest B - EREATEEEN S EE KR
level input that is significant to the fair value B A e B 2 d5 K i A\ B Y
measurement is unobservable 25
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
financial assets, goodwill and investment properties), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount
is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use
and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets or groups
of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is determined for
the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement of
profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a)

or

(b)

the party is a person or a close member of that person’s
family and that person

M
(i)
(iii)

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group;

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

()

(i)

(ii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same
third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);
and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to
the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of
property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working
condition and location for its intended use. Expenditure incurred
after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into
operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied,
the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the
carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets
with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Freehold land

Long term leasehold land

Buildings

Leasehold improvements,
furniture and fixtures

Motor vehicles

Computer systems

Equipment

Not depreciated

Over the lease terms

2.5% - 4%

10% - 33% or over the lease
terms, whichever is shorter

10% - 20%

15% - 34%

10% - 33% or over the lease
terms, whichever is shorter

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately. Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation
method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each
financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and building (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Transfers are made to investment properties when, and only
when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the ending of
owner occupation. If a property occupied by the Group as an
owner-occupied property becomes an investment property, the
Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy
stated under “Property, plant and equipment and depreciation”
up to the date of change in use, and any difference at that date
between the carrying amount and the fair value of the property
is accounted for as a revaluation movement in accordance with
the policy stated under “Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation” above

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment

property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

(a)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of
lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Where applicable, the cost of a right-of-use asset also
includes an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the
underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site
on which it is located. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on
a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease terms and
the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings 2 - 4 years
Equipment 2 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset. The Group’s lease liabilities are separately
presented in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either
an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and
non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling
price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line
basis over the lease terms and is included in other income and
gains, net in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating
nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging
an operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased
asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as other income
and gains, net in the period in which they are earned.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor (continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are
accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified
as a finance lease or operating lease with reference to the
right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the head lease
is a short-term lease to which the Group applies the on-balance
sheet recognition exemption, the Group classifies the sublease as
an operating lease.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group initially measures a
financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset
not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in
accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,
irrespective of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss
when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes equity investments which the Group
had not irrevocably elected to classify at fair value through
other comprehensive income. Dividends on equity investments
classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
are also recognised as other income in the statement of profit
or loss when the right of payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the dividend
will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend can be
measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred assets is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of the
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition
and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and
forward-looking information.

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under
the general approach and they are classified within the following
stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables
which apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

— Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but
that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime

ECLs
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Simplified approach

For trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group applies the simplified approach
in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly attributable
transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade
and bills payables, other payables and accruals, amounts due to
associates, an amount due to a non-controlling shareholder, lease
liabilities and interest-bearing bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised cost
(loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss.

2.4 FEEEHIBORRE ()

o i WL ()
Pk %

WA 5 KT R i R B R e A A
B o B A SR I T B R R R St
K Bl T B A3 H R R > ACAR R
ALHEIEAT BN A AR 2R B B o MR AL IE > K
45 V] A 7 9 £ R L e ) A o iR 4%
FI 391 4% 2 391 TR0 5 1 4R Ot sl s 4R BB Al - KSR
VA L R A s 1 At v 48 4 O
%*Eﬁﬁ%k&%ﬁ%%%ﬂ@ﬁﬂ%ﬁ?fﬁtﬂ%

4 i £
VEZ Tl

SRR BRI A T EERH S AR &
R~ KM A B AR A AR R i b
THZMETHRGMEMN) -

Fir A < il 5 B0 20 3 08 1 il R D A 2 Bk
i B8 > BUAT BRI AN 22 5 A o AR 2 &
Tl A 45 B B 5 MRk M R R A T A K
e B ME SR ~ AT I A A Wl ROE - REAT IR
JBe BB SR I ~ AHLE AR S A AR SR AT A
£ o

UL H51 AKIYHE 2 8 A (BEsk R ) 2 1%
m ;fﬁ

TP ERRAR > it B S Al B LR 4% A
B DL AR B > MRS 2 B B AN T
KRN PLSABI IR o 20 )78 8RR FE e
SlF A5 0 A7 B B S 4 R e Wy AE £ A AR e R o

B B A T3 5 B W o DA ] T e A %
BT B R B T ke — AR A 2 B A R A AR
B o TUBRA R MG FH A AR R Z B AN o

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022



2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the first-in, first-out basis or
weighted average basis and includes all costs of purchase, costs
of conversion, and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories
to their present location and condition. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial

position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the
countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit
nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,
except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary differences can be utilised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right exists to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same tax authority on either the same taxable entity or
different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or the realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in time
when control of the asset is transferred to the customer, generally
on delivery of the goods.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that discounts
the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the
financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease term.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right
to receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group’s
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-settled
transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions is measured by reference
to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model
or the Black-Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the
beginning and end of that period.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share,
if any.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company’s functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currencies (continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,
respectively).

The functional currencies of overseas subsidiaries and certain
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong dollars
at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign
operation is recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing
rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of an overseas subsidiary are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash
flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the overseas subsidiary
which arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities
affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Accounting for investments in associates

The Group applies judgement in evaluating the financial
results and accounting estimates of the listed associate and
its subsidiaries and assesses whether there are any indicators
of impairment for investments in the listed associate and its
subsidiaries at the end of each reporting period. An impairment
exists when the carrying values of these assets exceed their
recoverable amounts, which is the higher of its fair value less
costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair
values less costs of disposal is based on available data from
binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets

Impairment testing of property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets. The Group determines whether property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets are impaired when there
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable.
An impairment exists when the carrying values of these assets
exceed their recoverable amounts, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair values less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

3.

Syt A B A

A S A 45 R S RS A L 3 O 2
A~ - EERAMEZ S8 U RSRA R
Z P FRAE VB - Al BB o A B S R
el k2 Ao R 3% vl e E B H AR T KB 2
B2 B o AR 2 R T A RO

i

TERRAARLE GG BORZ BT - By RAliwh
FAL > PG OAR TS E B O
WU A e R B B

P A Al 2 B2l P

24 S [0 Y D) A M R A e L R e 4y
Al Z A SR S B A B o AR A5 O I R R
Al 1 7 0B O ) e LB i 4 W] 2 AR R
BT AT WA B 5 o 8 % 5% A 2 MR i A L
TSI o B A T B A AR B A
2B > MR AEIRAE o 2P (E Ik i 5 A
T3 RE T 35 S J B BT HEAT HL A0 W 0L
8945 22 S P A e T B T O ARTAR T B 1
B ) 30 B AR B o AR R I 5 A B
i 2R T A B e A LA Y T R 2R B 4
ik BEAEANBRUGHE SRR
M BLE -

W ~ W57 R ik g A 1 T 2 A it

Yo 3 ~ W Bs B B DA M B R A 2 el A B
o i A 5 G SR B T FL VT B SR M [ > AR
A PO 7 A ) 2 - G B A DA R R
T CURA o % S B R T 3 3L T
[ 5 o B AP Ok 5 i A BRLSL0 F Ri 2
R MR AEWRAE o 1 Ik th 5 A 75 2k
T 1 D5 ) P A R4 SRy A SR 3
2 Sy B 45 W o T B4 i 455 (RO 0 e o
1 394 B A B o RGN R > 4 R 2R
il st A w4 A A LA Y TE U R 2R B i
%é%%%ﬁ%%ﬁ%%%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ%%
B o

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022



SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)
Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management
judgement is required to determine the amount of deferred tax
assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely timing and
level of future taxable profits together with future tax planning
strategies. The carrying value of deferred tax assets recognised
for losses available for offsetting against future taxable profits at
31 March 2022 was HK$832,000 (2021: HK$772,000). Further
details are contained in note 25 to the financial statements.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of contracts
with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating
whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses
the lease term if there is a significant event or change in
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the
lease (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements or
significant customisation to the leased asset).

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., customer type and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking
estimates are analysed.

The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and
forecast economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss
experience and forecast of economic conditions may also not be
representative of a customer’s actual default in the future. The
information about the ECLs on the Group’s trade receivables is
disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on their products and services and has three
reportable operating segments for the year ended 31 March 2022
as follows:

(a) the trading segment is engaged in the trading of frozen
meats, seafood and vegetables in Hong Kong;

(b) the catering segment is engaged in restaurants operation in
Hong Kong; and

(c) the “others” segment consists of the marketing of meat
products and communication and advertising design.

The Group’s operating businesses are structured and managed
separately according to the nature of their operations and the
products and services they provided. During the year, the Group
reviewed the structure and internal organisation and changed
the composition of its reportable segments. Accordingly,
certain subsidiaries which were previously included in “Others”
segment have been reclassified to the “Catering” segment. The
relevant comparable figures have been restated to conform with
current year’s presentation. Operating segments are reported in
a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to key
management personnel.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted loss before tax. The adjusted
profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
loss before tax except that bank interest income, dividend
income and unallocated losses, non-lease-related finance costs,
share of profits and losses of associates and corporate and other
unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude investments in associates, deferred
tax assets, certain items of property, plant and equipment
and corporate and other unallocated assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, deferred tax liabilities
and corporate and other unallocated liabilities as these liabilities
are managed on a group basis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then
prevailing market prices.

Notes to Financial Statements
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4. RENWER (B)

o a2 S MR R 2 H R =T R 5
R B R E R BT W AT R 5

Trading Catering Others Total
5 1.9 b it
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
O St S e S SIS S S I S S S SN S S

HKS$'000  HK'000  HKS'000
BT BNTT BWTX

HK'000  HK$’000  HK'000  HK$’000  HK'000
BT EW¥TL  #ETT EWTL #NTx

Segment revenue
Sales to external customers
Intersegment sales

Reconciliation:

Elimination of
intersegment sales

Segment results

Reconciliation:

Bank interest income

Dividend income and
unallocated losses

Finance costs (other than
interest on lease liabilities)

Share of profits and losses
of associates

Corporate and other
unallocated expenses

Loss before tax

AHBA
HETHRER
Wil g

ﬁf_ﬁ?:
T 4 4

MRS

HlE

RATA BB

B B R A
AAEEH

148,092 114,020 29,988
2,498 1,530 =

150,590 115,550 29,988

(7,118) (1,824) (1,409)

ALK (H SRR

ZH BB

FEAGBh 28 24 ] i A

R
A R IeAl
RAERX

Wit s 4

TECCFER | ERARMREE

10,675 5,053 6,425 183,133 131,120
- 47 202 2,545 1,732
10,675 5,100 6,627 185,678 132,852

(2,545) (1,732)

183,133 131,120

(1,137) 481 (2,199) (8,046) (5,160)
441 1,241
(1,637) (440)
(495) (384)
2,821 9,003

(8,745) (8,448)

(15,661) (4,188)
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) AT ER ()
Trading Catering Others Total
0] 48 Hfb it
2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021
TR CFCE CFOCE CFCE RO CFCF RO ZF-E
HKS$000 HK'000 HK$000 HK'000 HKS$’000 HK’000 HK$000 HK'000
BETL  BETE  BWTL  ERTL BETE  BETE BNTL  ERTX
Segment assets g 34 149,992 172,953 45,963 28,705 7,595 10,509 203,550 212,167
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment AT S WL T
receivables il ®) (319)
Investments REEARZ
in associates #E 416,574 428,050
Corporate and other ] B oAt
unallocated assets AR B E 65,127 44,138
Total assets % R 685,246 684,036
Segment liabilities Vg 35K 47,088 34,548 26,765 12,876 289 3,339 74,142 50,763
Reconciliation: HHE -
Elimination of intersegment X 35 JE A 3% JE
payables il ®) (319)
Corporate and other A B Al
unallocated liabilities Ao B A 6,140 8,720
Total liabilities AfRE 80,277 59,164
Other segment information: 3Ll 233 ¥ )
Impairment/(reversal of JE Wi 52 5 M sk
impairment) of trade WAE (3 [
receivable W) (173) 2 - - - - (173) 277
Write-down of inventories o7 £ 2
to net realisable value 5 B 281 106 - = - - 281 106
Impairment of items of W3~ BE Rk
property, plant and M IE H Z WA
equipment - - - - - 864 - 864
Impairment of right-of-use g EZ
assets WA - = - = - 917 - 917
Capital expenditure® NG 2,176 8 6,249 5073 2 - 8,447 5,081
Unallocated capital AR 43 L AR B S+
expenditure® 13,653 -
22,100 5,081
Depreciation ik 1,014 645 6,377 2,685 649 1,749 8,040 5,079
Unallocated depreciation RO 2407 2818
10,447 7,897
e Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and * KA BH X AR E A ¥ - W Sk o

equipment.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. BB ER (48)

Geographical information it 3 ¥

The Group’s revenue from external customers based on the
location of its customers and information about the Group’s
non-current assets, excluding financial assets and deferred tax
assets, analysed by the geographical area in which the assets are
located, are as follows:

Revenue from
external customers

ORI P 2 i [ ] A3 A AR I 2 WA T 45 6
Z A [ ) 53 43 A7 AR 558 T 2 S D (<
B M S B R BRI Z BRI T

Carrying amounts of
non-current assets

WARHMRE P I i o) B IR v L
2022 2021 2022 2021
R TR SR TR
HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT o BT B o
Hong Kong R 183,133 131,120 467,440 465,471
Japan H A = = 23,865 11,887
183,133 131,120 491,305 477,358

Information about major customers AR EEE TR

There was no revenue from customers individually contributing

to over 10% of the total revenue of the Group. 10% °

TECCFER | EARARMREEZEREAER

ACHR A BT % 5 G 8 B OB I AR
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 5.

Revenue represents the net invoiced value of goods sold, after
allowances for returns and trade discounts. An analysis of

oA~ J oA Be et o

WA X IBE R T MRS 82 85
A WA~ oAb Rl sk Ofs4R) - 33

revenue, other income and gains/(losses), net is as follows: ZHWT
2022 2021
—R-= C Y-
HKS$’000 HK$’000
5 T T
Disaggregation of revenue WAZ 55
Sales of goods e 148,092 114,020
Restaurants operation JuEag o gr 29,988 10,675
Others H Aty 5,053 6,425
183,133 131,120
Timing of revenue recognition WO T 2 W )
At a point in time RS 183,133 131,120
Other income Al A
Bank interest income SRAT A B A 441 1,241
Dividend income from financial assets at AT EBEBER ARY
fair value through profit or loss S b E Z B BB 166 363
Gross rental income ML A 1,987 1,863
Government subsidies* T Al B 1,050 450
Gain on lease termination A& &Ik R 997 =
Sundry income RPN 65 25
4,706 3,942
Gains/(losses), net W2k, Oy » S
Fair value losses on financial assets at AP EBERERARY
fair value through profit or loss, net SREEZA T EEE > HH (1,803) (803)
Foreign exchange differences, net e Be, 75 B > Y 1,607 1,568
(196) 765
4,510 4,707
* Government subsidies during the year ended 31 March 2022 and e BEZR R R FEA=ZT—HE

2021 were Covid-19 relief subsidies received. As at the end of the
reporting periods, there were no unfulfilled conditions or other
contingencies attaching to the government subsidies that had been

recognised by the Group.

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the
goods and payment is generally due within one to three months

from delivery.

S8 1

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED | Annual Report 2022
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6. FINANCE COSTS 6. MY
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BB AR Z A
2022 2021
- S R
HK$’000 HK$’000
0 T T
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans SRAT AR R A RE s SR 8 495 384
Interest on lease liabilities (note 13(b)) MEABZAE (Hit13b)) 281 488
776 872
7. LOSS BEFORE TAX 7. BRBL S
The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/ AEFEZBRIBRCNEGGEA) :
(crediting):
2022 2021
- S R
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Wik AT T TC
Cost of inventories sold BEFEEZ A 157,412 115,004
Depreciation of items of property, W~ WEREHEE Z
plant and equipment e 12 3,974 2,632
Depreciation of right-of-use assets I RE R 6,013 4,805
Lease payments not included in the Kat AHLE B AEEHER
measurement of lease liabilities FHE Ak 11,048 7,737
Covid-19-related rent concession KA WA ZCovid-19
from lessors HH A L4 A (241) (355)
Auditors’ remuneration A% BBl T 4 1,666 1,539
Employee benefit expense (including i 5 & F) BH 52
directors’ remuneration (note 8)): (B ERWNE (MaEs))
Wages, salaries, allowances and TE -~ #H4 - MK
benefits in kind* B A 22,117 14,191
Depreciation of staff quarter included FPAMIMEEEZ B THEE
in right-of-use assets e 460 460
Pension scheme contributions R N RS 711 460
23,288 15,111
TECCHEER | ERARMREERBRAF
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LOSS BEFORE TAX (continued)

The Group’s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

(crediting): (continued)

Ik B i Al 1 (A0)
ALEZBAEEHCTME S GEA) + (8)

2022 2021
e S “E T
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
H i e ENT T

Write-off of items of property, MW -~ BE R

plant and equipment** WA TE H 12 29 2
Gain on lease termination ME&KILZ W (997) -
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BB K&

plant and equipment™** W H 4 845 -
Impairment of items of property, Wk~ WG R MIER

plant and equipment** Z HAG 12 - 864
Impairment of right-of-use assets** 185 P W 3 7 R 13 - 917
Impairment of an amount due from JRE W Wk 5 24 )

an associate™** Z A 107 -
Loss on deregistration of a foreign T 8 v A0 B JE A D

subsidiary**** Z G HR e 1,219 -
Foreign exchange differences, net [ S 26 52 > A (1,607) (1,568)
Net rental income AW AT (1,629) (1,496)
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) JRE W B 5 MR K A

of trade receivables (488 I 1) 18 173) 2717
Write-down of inventories to net WO AT £ 2 W) 5 B e

realisable value*** 281 106

E In the prior year, included in employee benefit expense was the

ok

foskoskok

government subsidies mainly represented the grants from the
Employment Support Scheme of the Hong Kong Government,
totaling HK$2,267,000, which aims to retain employment
and combat Covid-19. There were no unfulfilled conditions
or contingencies relating to these subsidies. In the prior year,
government subsidies of HK$794,000 and HK$1,473,000
were included in the employee benefit expense in “selling and
distribution expenses” and “administrative expenses”, respectively,
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The loss on disposal of items of property, plant and equipment,
write-off of items of property, plant and equipment and impairment
of items of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets are
included in “selling and distribution expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

The write-down of inventories to net realisable value is included in
“cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The impairment of an amount due from an associate and the loss
on deregistration of a foreign subsidiary were included in “other
expenses” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

ok

LA BTG IR B A A B S AR i BOR Al G R
ERAKABFEWBENRREIGTE TR M
Wi Bh > 5 A0 R Bk 33 B PiCovid-19 > HAE %
2,267,0009 I o 7% %5 Al W 3l JE R %2 B 1 i I
il AR T o Y BAREFE Y > R A 794,000
TG M 1,473,000 705 W B35 i G B AR R 2 T8
B R e ] R AT BB X | Z 08 B8 A B X
|3q °

A M R EH Z B WET
3 W BRI E > WS - U KGR H
LA MREE 2 W O AR A RaR g
RS EEHIN -

IR AF £ 3 V) 2 B OB A5 TR AR A IR AR AR [
BRA A -

s JRE WG A ) K L < ML B R ¥ A1 Y I A

ZRERCAER AR G RS RN -
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to
the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a) and (b) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure
of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 R 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

o

ERNERE S L H B B A E R
383(1)(a) K (b)ff S 24 7] (P BB 2 M) 25 ok} ) Bl
Bl 2 e T ¢

follows:

2022 2021
—E TR A
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT T
Fees 4 540 505

Other emoluments: At 4 -
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 4~ Bk R EY A 2 4,364 4,782
Pension scheme contributions R4 FE 2 gk 21 26
4,385 4,808
4,925 5,313

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) M IEPfTE W
ENDATHILIERTEREZ RSN T

2022 2021

- S TR

HK$’000 HK$’000

SN T T T

LAN Yee Fong, Steve John [2E5y0 80 60
CHEUNG Wing Choi RAEA 80 60
WONG, Louis Chung Yin* T B 80 35
CHAN Kay Cheung** PR AL B - 25
240 180

E Appointed as an independent non-executive director with % CHRELB TN GESE § 2%

effect on 31 August 2020.

#%  Retired as an independent non-executive director with effect

from 31 August 2020.

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent
non-executive directors during the year (2021: Nil).

—EooEER |

FENA=Z+—H#AER -

o CIRMEEIERATERRE > A 2R
FENA=Z+—H#AER -

A P9 N S At T 4 HE A T B LR LT R
(ZFZ 4 ) -
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director

8. HiHEM 4 (B0)
(b) AT H P R IR PAT R

Salaries,
allowances

and benefits

Pension
scheme

Total

Fees in kind contributions remuneration
¥4 BN Bk ERE
HWaE REYHRR Z Ptk T 4 44 5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T T T o
2022 xR
Executive directors: AT R .
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis* SCaK 60 1,484 - 1,544
TAI Chun Kit R 120 2,880 18 3,018
TSE Siu Wan L 60 = 3 63
240 4,364 21 4,625
Non-executive director: FEPRTESE
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen W 60 - - 60
300 4,364 21 4,685
* Retired as an executive director with effect from 1 April * CREAITHEERS - IR _4WAH
2022. — HRAR -
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8. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 8. WM& (&)
(b) Executive directors and a non-executive director b) BATEP KIEPATE R ()
(continued)
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme Total
Fees in kind contributions remuneration

W~ M BRSNS
HE REMAE Z ek st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
wYToe  EWTIL  EWTIT  BWTI

2021 TR TR
Executive directors: PATESR :
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen* S 7 M 108 2,597 = 2,705
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis SRR 60 1,336 9 1,405
TAI Chun Kit O 4 66 291 6 363
TSE Siu Wan A E 60 = 3 63
TAI Chun Leung** WS R 25 558 8 591
319 4,782 26 5,127
Non-executive director: FHATESE
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen* T 7o 6 = = 6
325 4,782 26 5,133
* Re-designated from an executive director to a non-executive * N R _4E_H - tF=HHATESEH
director on 23 February 2021. ERIEBATES -
*#%  Retired as a executive director with effect from 31 August = IREPITERERE > -2 2FHEN\AH
2020. Et—HRAR-
There was no arrangement under which a director waived AR s 4 T WE AR AR i B
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year (2021: ERCEEBNE (4 ) o
Nil).

CECCFER | ERARBREEZERERAA
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FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
directors (2021: three directors), details of whose remuneration
are set out in note 8 above. Details of the remuneration of the
remaining three (2021: two) non-director, highest paid employees
for the year are as follows:

9. A 35 M gt i B

HEN o AR R R BER A E R (CF
TR S HE ) o R R I R R
ESCHRRES o AR B R = (ZF 4R
WAL ) 2 o M I e e U 2 s T

2022 2021

—®- ot S

HKS$’000 HK$’000

BT o BT T

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind Fidr o~ HM REW A 1,800 1,364
Pension scheme contributions PER Y N 1 P ¢ 44 36
1,844 1,400

The number of non-director, highest paid employees whose
remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

I T T e e BT AE R A AL 2
H :

Number of employees

e B A%
2022 2021
—®—— ot e
Nil to HK$1,000,000 % %1,000,000% 7¢ 3 2

INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year, except for one subsidiary of the
Group which is a qualifying entity under the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime. The first HK$2,000,000 (2021: HK$2,000,000)
of assessable profits of this subsidiary are taxed at 8.25% (2021:
8.25%) and the remaining assessable profits are taxed at 16.5%
(2021: 16.5%).

10. Pif3Bt

T ¥ A 19 B0 5 3% B Y B 98 2 A Z A R
R A R B R 16.5% (T . —4 : 16.5%)
FHPRIBA > MR AR [ 0 — [ PR A R BR AN 5 B
O ) B AF A R AT B0 A P BB o % PR RS A W
JRE SR 35 A 1Y 172,000,000 HETT (B T4
2,000,000 #IC) F%8.25% (T —.—4 : 8.25%)
RBEREHE - iR TR N I%16.5% (=&
4R 1 16.5%) §HE o

2022 2021
—®—-— —B AR
HK$’000 HK$°000
BHT I BT T
Current charge for the year AR AR BE P B I
— Hong Kong — U 596 50
Overprovision in the prior year 20 A AT R0 R S A = (35)
Deferred (note 25) AL (M #25) (497) (464)
Total tax charge/(credit) for the year (449)

HNBLE P S (TR 4 ) 489 99
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HK$7,622,000 (2021: HK$7,346,000) is included in “Share of
profits and losses of associates” in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

—EooEER |

MBHmEmRE 10
31 March 2022 Z2=-Z%=8=+—H
10. INCOME TAX (continued) 10. PifaBt (%)
A reconciliation of the tax credit applicable to loss before tax AR AR 2 w) M H e A W i E K
at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the ] A W 2 R R S ELJE R B BB
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the s 45 2 BLIE K 46 B DA B BB G 5 2 BLIE B %7
tax charge/(credit) at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of (FEfe) HHHE > DL E R BLR (RP g @ i) g
the applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective PR R Z BRI ¢
tax rate, are as follows:
2022 2021
B TR E
HK$’000 %o HK$’000 %
BT B oo

Loss before tax I 5t T A5 18 (15,661) (4,188)
Tax at applicable tax rates 98 T B R FH S Z BLIH (2,584) 16.5 (691) 16.5
Lower tax rate enacted by 7 & R A A

local authority AR5 (165) 1.0 (50) 1.2
Adjustments in respect of current 208 8 300 I 3 o I

tax of previous periods Z iR - - (35) 0.8
Profits and losses attributable Tk 4 A ) IR Al ¥ 1

to associates &5 18 (465) 3.0 (1,485) 35.5
Income not subject to tax H7E SRR A (462) 3.0 (738) 17.6
Expenses not deductible for tax A AR B A 2 32 726 4.6) 66 (1.6)
Tax losses utilised from B P 48 43 1 ) 2 B I i 4R

previous periods - - (6) 0.1
Tax losses not recognised W TR 2 o JE s 1 3,120 (19.9) 2,312 (55.2)
Others Fofls (71) 0.4 178 (4.2)
Tax charge/(credit) at the A EBEBLRE X

Group’s effective rate (Hkfe) Z BiIE 99 0.6) (449) 10.7
The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to JRE A Wk 8 oy W) 2 B H 367,622,000 6 (&

T 4R 17,346,000 00) AR A HE R
Z [HEAL 2 A B w ) REHE IR -
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shares in issue during those years.

11. LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY 11, AR 2> W) 35 0 4 P A 5 A 4 B s R
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
The calculation of the basic loss per share amounts is based on GBI A G IR IR AR A R S RS TR
the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the FEAGER  RERNCBITSERE -
Company and the number of ordinary shares in issue during the
year.
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share are based 1 B 5 A % i 9 A 4R AR IR R A S e A
on:
2022 2021
TR TR
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT T BT T
Loss ) 15
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders of the il A B B AR e i A 4
Company, used in the basic and diluted loss B ) Z AR A w) 5 JE R AR
per share calculation B B AN s 1E (17,337) (4,162)
Number of shares
Jbe £ ¥ H
2022 2021
— AR 0 S
Shares JBe By
Number of ordinary shares in issue during the S B A % i 9 4R
year used in the basic and diluted loss per ZAEE OSSR
share calculation 259,586,000 259,586,000
No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share amounts HRAREIRE R _ER_F"—F=H
presented for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021 in respect Z=tT—HIEEEYELEBEREEH Z CBIT
of a dilution as the Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary W B s BRI ML MR I EH R SR

B 2 5 Je B A Jls 1A o e o
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31 March 2022 ZE2=Z=#=8A=+—H
12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 12. P93 ~ W5 Bk i
Leasehold
improve-
Land ments,
and furniture Motor Computer
buildings and fixtures vehicles systems Equipment Total
L S
b S
LHRHT REE fil (1 E¥ ] i fi it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$000 HK$000
BETE  BETE  BETE  BNTE  BETE BFTE
31 March 2022 ZEZZEERETH
At 1 April 2021: REZRZENA—H
Cost [7ZS 23,734 12912 6,033 2,515 3,703 48,897
Accumulated depreciation and RAHTE R
impairment (3,613) (5877 (5,848) (2,257) (1,592) (19,187
Net carrying amount TR 20,121 7,035 185 258 2,111 29,710
At1 April 2021, net of accumulated  REZZ—EEA—H 5
depreciation and impairment TN 2 a4 Rk 20,121 7,035 185 258 2111 29,710
Additions HE 13,620 4,123 2,101 235 2,021 22,100
Disposals & = (1) = 49) (300) (1,119)
Transfer to investment property WHEREME (11,426) - - - - (11,426)
Write-off it - - S (29) o (29)
Depreciation provided during the year £ M B2 Hi# (119) (2,617) (426) (118) (694) (3.974)
Exchange realignment I (1,099) - - - - (1,099)
At 31 March 2022, net of accumulated ~ R-E_Z"HEZHZ+—H>
depreciation and impairment TR Rk 21,097 1,770 1,860 298 3,138 34,163
At31 March 2022: REBZZEZAST-H:
Cost Bk 24,121 13,840 8,134 2,601 5,000 54,356
Accumulated depreciation and LT R
impairment (3,624) (6,070) (6,274) (2,303) (1,922) (20,193)
Net carrying amount TR 21,097 7,770 1,360 298 3,138 34,163
TECICHEFR | ERARMREEZRBRAA
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In the prior year, the Group’s management identified a shop in
Hong Kong which was underperformed during the year and an
impairment loss of HK$864,000 was made on items of property,
plant and equipment. Further details are disclosed in note 13
below.

12. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 12. W3 ~ BB Bt i (%)
Leasehold
improve-
Land ments,
and furniture Motor Computer
buildings and fixtures vehicles systems Equipment Total
HEwy
UM A
L RET REE it THAR #ff it
HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
BETE  #NTT BRTE #NTE ERFE ENTR
31 March 2021 ZRZEERE R
At 1 April 2020: REZZZBENA—H
Cost TS 24,047 9,233 6,033 2,367 2451 44131
Accumulated depreciation and REATE R
impairment (3492) (3,083) (5,796) (2,151) (1,169) (15,691)
Net carrying amount SR G 20,555 6,150 237 216 1,282 28,440
At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated ~ RZZZREMA—H
depreciation and impairment TR Rk 20,555 6,150 237 216 1,282 28440
Additions HE - 3,679 - 148 1,254 5,081
Write-off e - = = S ) ¥y
Depreciation provided during the year N BB 2 1% (121) (1930) (52) (106) (423) (2,632)
Impairment Wit = (864) = = = (864)
Exchange realignment E i i % (313) - - - - (313)
At31 March 2021, net of accumulated  R-ZE-—4£ZH=+—H>
depreciation and impairment REILE SRR YA 20,121 7,035 185 258 2,111 29,710
At31 March 2021: AR EEAE N
Cost BA 2,134 12912 6,033 2515 3,703 48,897
Accumulated depreciation and Rt R fE
impairment (3,613) (5,877 (5,848) (2,257) (1,592) (19,187)
Net carrying amount TR 0 20,121 7,035 185 258 2111 29,710

A ZAE s ASSE [ A0 A5 PR Bk — R A Rl
F N RBUR WAL > Yk %5 1 864,000% T T 5T
AW W R MIEE N o B RFEHER T X
Bk 139 5 o
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13. LEASES

Notes to Financial Statements

7 = E
B 75 ¥R o M =
31 March 2022 ZE2=Z=#=8A=+—H
13. AltE
The Group as a lessee A A Ry FRALA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of properties and AL EHYERZHEHBA T LHESH -
equipment. The leases are generally have lease terms between Wk R UAE o B THE G BHETE
2 and 4 years. There are several lease contracts that include FERE > SEIE N T OCHTER
extension options, which are further discussed below.
(a) Right-of-use assets (a) 10 HEH 2
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and A A5 [ i P RE S P 2 W T L S 4 VN A T R
the movements during the year are as follows: FITE :
Buildings Equipment Total
o5 e Al Mt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T 8 1 F H 1T
As at 1 April 2020 RoRZEFEWUA—H 18,347 = 18,347
Additions 3 8,630 247 8,877
Lease modification HEEK (3,547) - (3,547)
Impairment WA 917) = (917)
Depreciation charge iK% il (5,257) (8) (5,265)
As at 31 March 2021 and REFZ-HF=ZH=+—HRK
1 April 2021 R _—HMHA—H 17,256 239 17,495
Additions 4 m 17,624 84 17,708
Lease modification BB K (37) - (37
Termination of a lease HIEHE (1,167) - (1,167)
Depreciation charge HeEEN (6,419) (54) (6,473)
As at 31 March 2022 REZFZHE=ZH=+—H 27,257 269 27,526

In the prior year, the Group’s management identified
a shop in Hong Kong which was underperformed and
estimated the corresponding recoverable amount based on
its cash-generating unit. Based on the estimates, impairment
losses of HK$864,000, as disclosed in note 12 above, and
HK$917,000 were recognised to write down the carrying
amounts of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets, respectively, to their recoverable amount of
HK$2,925,000. The recoverable amounts of the respective
cash-generating unit is determined based on value-in-use
calculations using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a period of the remaining lease terms. The
pre-tax discount rates applied for the cash flow projections
was 9.0%.

—EooEER |

AR > A AR 1 YA B ik — P e
W BB ARMBAE > WHRERLE&ELE
B A A R T R SR o AR IEAEE 0
2 ik A8 5 $8.864,0009 7 (7Y b SC B w128
) %917,000% 7C > LA 4 B 3~ Rk
5 B o A DA T A P R S ) R v M % 4
B T Wi 1] 4 K2,925,0009 TG © 4% B 4 i 2k
B B T S TR 4 AR 5 PR 5
FE > W TR N 2 R T
EBNMBEHAENBESREEN - HAeR
TE B0 Fr A 22 B B B R 59.0% o
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31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

13. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements
during the year are as follows:

13. #5 (5)
A B AR B R BLA ()
(b) HLE% £ 5

FLE B AR il S 4F A BN E

Total
A5t
HKS$’000
BT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2020 PR FEFEMNA —HZREE 19,477
New lease B A 8,777
Lease modification M BE % (3,547)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year ERHERZ BB 488
Covid-19-rent related rent concessions from lessors A H H AL Z Covid- 194 B FL 4 5 Ik (355)
Payment K (4,885)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 R_F_—HF=ZA=Z1T—HR
and 1 April 2021 RN A—HZ R 19,955
New lease B A 16,940
Lease modification IR (37)
Accretion of interest recognised during the year AN THER R E R 281
Covid-19-rent related rent concessions from lessors 2 B A Z Covid- 1940 BH #H 4 72 ik (241)
Termination of a lease I (2,164)
Payment 3k (6,433)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 RoF - HE=ZA=Z+—HZIREE 28,301
2022 2021
—®—— ot e
HK$’000 HK$°000
YT BT
Analysed into: S KT A
Current portion it B R Ay 9,763 6,566
Non-current portion J I Bh & 4y 18,538 13,389
28,301 19,955

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in
note 33 to the financial statements.

FLE B2 B0 B 23 A O 3k 2 7 B 85 e o

B £33 o
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Notes to Financial Statements

The Group leases certain of its land and buildings in Hong
Kong and its investment properties (note 14) in Japan
under operating lease arrangements. Leases are negotiated
for terms of termination by one month’s written notice or
terms without termination notice. Rental income recognised
by the Group during the year was HK$1,987,000 (2021:

AEHEBENELHHAERFHBZE T
W R R HARZ B3 (M ati4) -
A T Z LA AT DL — {1 H B A AT DL
IR B AR B AT DL AR o AS AR i 4
B HERR 2 4 WA £51,987,0004 6 (—
T 4R 11,863,000 58) 5 B R B

HK$1,863,000), details of which are included in note 5 to A B EES o
the financial statements.
At 31 March 2022 and 2021, the undiscounted lease N B _HERE R —HFE=ZA=1+—

payments receivable by the Group in future periods under
non-cancellable operating leases with its tenants are as

Hos A58 AL A T $80 80 2 26878 AEL A4 T 7
AR A ] 2 M W RHL P 2 AR Sl B A B R sk

follows: T
2022 2021
& R
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T BT T
Within one year —4ER 552 50
TEICFER | ERARMREZRARLAEA

MBHmERE 19
31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8
13. LEASES (continued) 13. Alf% (%)
The Group as a lessee (continued) A M Ry AR LA (3
(¢c) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to (c) REMWERZABEMBM B T:
leases are as follows:
2022 2021
e S R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T oo

Interest on lease liabilities A A S 281 488
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets EHEEEZTEEN 6,473 5,265
Variable lease payments not included in the Rit AMEAEFEZ

measurement of lease liabilities CIE Vi -EiE 11,048 7,737
Covid-19-related rent concession AR A A A ZCovid-19

from lessors HH B AH 4 70 Wik (241) (355)
Impairment of right-of-use assets I HE 5 2 YAk = 917
Gain on lease termination ME&IEZ W2 (997) =
Total amount recognised in profit or loss P 1E 25 R A 16,564 14,052
The Group as a lessor A SR A s I RLA
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31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 14. BEPE
HK$’000
BT

Carrying amount 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021 and PR ZEFEMNA—H -

1 April 2021 RO EA=ZT—HK

TR A —H R4S -
Transfer from property, plant and equipment oS SR E B Gy & ] 11,513
Exchange realignment [ 50, i 2% (574)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 RERDTHEEA=E+ 2RI 10,939

The Group’s investment properties consist of commercial
properties in Japan. Management has determined that the
investment properties consist of one class of asset, i.e.,
commercial units, based on the nature, characteristics and risks of
each property.

The investment properties were revalued on 31 March 2022
based on a valuation performed by Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate
Appraisal and Advisory Limited, an independent professionally
qualified valuer, at HK$10,939,000. Each year, the directors
of the Company decide which external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuations of the Group’s properties. Selection
criteria include market knowledge, reputation, independence and
whether professional standards are maintained. Management have
discussions with the valuer on the valuation assumptions and
valuation results when the valuation is performed at each annual
reporting date.

The investment properties are leased to an associate of the Group
under operating leases, further details of which are included in
notes 13 and 30(a)(ii) to the financial statements.

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties:

ARG 2 B G ETINN H A Z T 3 o 45
o AL A% JE A S M e L o AR
B 3 h— 308 A AR > BV U

MR ZHE=ZA=Z+—H > BB LHES
BRI R EETAREHERA
TR Z A TAE s AW EENAAME S
10,939,000 JG o FF4F » AR A\ F E H B E W&
A A1 P A A il 1 B S A S T 2y SR 0 AT AR IR A
i o W ISR A VAL I T A 0k - R o R
T MR B K HE o NSRS H AT A,
AH IRy > 5 L LA U S i 6 LA B B A 1 4
% °

B RILE
BN — R
30(a)(ii) °

T RBURA G G PG R AR
H

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2022 using

BB A=A =A4—H

Z AR R
Quoted
price in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
market inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WY wAWBI% HwRAW
WA WA B A
(E—F) () GE=M) A
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT
Commercial i - - 10,939 10,939

HONG KONG FOOD INVESTMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key
inputs to the valuation of the investment property as at 31 March
2022:

B 75 8 o BY =
31 March 2022 ZE2=Z=#=8A=+—H
14. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 14. BHEWE (4)
During the year, there were no transfer of fair value measurement BN B KR 2 R R A P E
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfer into or out of Level 3 FHa o WA = E A A B 2 B (S F
(2021: Nil). TR ) o
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within YA R SR BN A N D /A Y [ R
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: FHHE ¢
Commercial
properties
CLikZE S
HK$’000
BT
Carrying amount at 1 April 2021 PR FENUH—HZREE -
Additions wE 11,513
Exchange realignment [ 58, 3 % (574)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2022 RERZHEEA=ZFHZREAE 10,939

TXRIIR R ZFE=H =+ HBREWHE
il 460 BT P 2 Al 4605 925 S 3 g Al 2 R 2

Weighted
Valuation technique Significant unobservable inputs average or range
T 4 1 39 B ok
M85 K A ) L A fH 4
2022
g S
Commercial property in Japan Income approach Monthly rental income per sq.m HK$196-239
e H A Z R 3% W 25 ¥ FHMEWRA (FTFI5K) 196-239% 7C
Occupancy rate 95%
AL

Under income approach, a property’s fair value is estimated
based on the normalised net operating income generated by the
property, which is divided by the capitalisation rate.

A significant increase/(decrease) in the rental income would
result in a significant increase/(decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property. A significant increase/(decrease) in the
occupancy rate in isolation would result in a significant increase/
(decrease) in the fair value of the investment property.

Further particulars of the Group’s investment properties are
included on page 144 of the annual report.

TECCFER | EARARM

S hE R B NS WAE Y 37XV E LR RS
Z B — AU R A B DA A B A A o

AW AKIEG I, (WD) GG
PR IREEI, . () o {8 LR 2 KR
G ) & F B E 36 2 AP K iR
/(L) e

B AS S5 B 5 ) 36 2 — 25 R U A SR
144 »
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31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

15. GOODWILL

15. W%

HK$°000
o

Cost at 1 April 2020, 31 March 2021, N RENH—H - —H=H=+—H -

1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022 R HEMA-HRZFIAEA=ZTHZ
BAR 2,103

At 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2021 NoR - HE=EZA=+ A AR HE=ZH=+—H
Cost AR 2,103
Accumulated impairment B AR =
Net carrying amount YR T 2,103

Impairment testing of goodwill

The carrying amount of goodwill is allocated to the
cash-generating unit of communication and advertising design for
impairment testing.

Communication and advertising design

The recoverable amount of the communication and advertising
design cash-generating unit has been determined based on a
value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projection is 9.0% (2021: 10.0%). The growth rate used to
extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-generating units beyond the
five-year period is 2.0% (2021: 2.4%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
communication and advertising design cash-generating unit
for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2021. The following
describes each key assumption on which management has based
its cash flow projections to undertake impairment testing of
goodwill.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected market
development and discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

R =4 kN

P B 2 M T L 40 5 AR B B A et B 4
P B A DL AT 90 B0

AR F

{81 R I B 1 R w3 4 A WA 2 T i ] kT Y
LU 0 1 BT o ol PR IR v A B
Pt 4 e Vo 25 A 2 B O T A A P B4 U TR R
B BIAREM A HZ M B R 49.0% (ZF
TR 10.0%) c MIRTAERIM Bl e EAH
frZ B AR EREI H2.0% (ZF _—4
2.4%) o

A EREF - _FRFF=H
=ob H kAR B RO B A B Rt B A B
fir 2 5 FH BT 0 RE B © DA i 2t 4 B I
TP AR Hh B 9 T O R A 2 4% T BB DA AT
7 B R

FSTEAY % — VA HOE A B A R 2 5
T R LA — F MG Z P BRI R -

H B — iR 2 W B3R BB AT > LR e B
A Bl LA A B R L B o

9T 0 B P S M B R 2 BB 2 R B
B R AR PFAHAF — B o
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31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 16. RBB AN ZHBE

2022 2021
—®=-= et e

HK$°000 HK$°000

BT o B oo

Share of net assets JEAY & B A 402,689 414,165
Goodwill on acquisition W B B A T 13,885 13,885
416,574 428,050

b A G5 T i 0 S B MR T
RRIETS BT - SR KRR B oK R -

The amounts due from/to associates included in the Group’s
current assets and liabilities are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable under normal trading terms.

A A [ Wi 0 W AR M A (BRER) AR W (3R
W 7 1) Je 2 BEWG 40 ) V4R A B A
(TP P56 1) B I 2B i A W] Z RE T

Particulars of the associate of the Group, Loyal Property (Global)
Limited (“Loyal Property”), and Four Seas Mercantile Holdings
Limited (“FSMHL”), a material associate of the Group and its

material subsidiaries, are as follows:

Percentage

Place of  of ownership

incorporation/ interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business  to the Group activities

7% 4 [ HE A

FAHCIAT R i B4 BE
£ fi JBe By 2 3 S:2E TS t-Yipid:A EV =3
Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited Ordinary shares Cayman Islands 29.98 Investment holding
Y 4 A R T W B B 2R R P
Fancy Talent Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Marketing of
ZEVFARAF 5 8 i T snack foods
AN 2 T35 4
Fancy Talent Ecommerce Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Sales of
ZEMHEEFHEERA A nild 5 confectionery and
food products
BB BRI
Four Seas (Japan) Holdings Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Investment holding
P CHA) 25 A R4 il LR R P
Four Seas Mercantile Limited (i) Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in
U E 5 H R A H (ii) Non-voting s snack foods,
deferred shares confectionery
(i) Bl B and beverages
(ii) S L S N R K
HEAE Ay ki 2 B 5
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Co., Ltd. Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
VYA Gl SE) A BRA HK$96,000,000 Mainland China confectionery and
O 4R Ak g ok food products
96,000,000 7T B B
ZHG

TECCFER | ERARBRE
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of the associate of the Group, Loyal Property (Global)
Limited (“Loyal Property”), and Four Seas Mercantile Holdings
Limited (“FSMHL”), a material associate of the Group and its

16. RBBE AR Z8E (8)

A A B Wi W AR M (BRER) AR W (3R
Wb A 1) Je 2 BEWG A 40 W) D U 4R AR A R
(T V9PN 5 1) Je I LB i A W) Z RE AN T

material subsidiaries, are as follows: (continued) (#)

Percentage

Place of  of ownership

incorporation/ interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business  to the Grou activities

o XY

L REE ST iR ) Ve B4 B
Eq BBy Z wt A EEBMLY  HEROAK EX =31
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd. Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing
VO () fr A RA US$20,800,000 Mainland China of beverages
CHENA R, bk e i

20,800,000 G
Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen Food Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Trading in frozen
Products Co., Ltd. RMBS§3,300,000 Mainland China food products
o TR v R A PR L 0 Z Y Vi PN and snack foods
A R H83,300,0007% &R
NEZH G
Hong Kong Biscuit (International) Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.79 Investment holding
WO () A RAF W9 B R BRE R
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Manufacturing and
T v K B e A PR ] B K R packaging of ham and
ham-related products
B T 05 B T
A7 B B
J.P. Inglis Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.98 Trading in
TF L FEAERAT 5 I 5 food materials
B ERE
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Ordinary shares Hong Kong 29.69 Restaurant
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited 9T B T operations
DR LFRRARAT RERE
Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd. Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing
R (ERE) RHARAF of US$5,220,000  Mainland China of noodles
CHZRA B/ Rk R
5,220,000 76

Loyal Property (Global) Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 40.00 Property agency services
AR (BEER) A R4 W 98 B R Py A R B
Miyata Co., Ltd. Ordinary shares Japan 29.98 Trading in snack
EHKEASH 398 B HA  (2021: 20.99%)  foods and confectionery
(2R % NERBERE

20.99%)
Miyata (Tianjin) International Paid-up capital of PRC/ 29.98 Trading in snack
Trading Co., Ltd. US$400,000 Mainland China (2021: 20.99%)  foods and confectionery
B B B 5 (R AR CHRBA bl hEKE (R4 NERBERHE

400,000 7C 20.99%)
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

Particulars of the associate of the Group, Loyal Property (Global)
Limited (“Loyal Property”), and Four Seas Mercantile Holdings
Limited (“FSMHL”), a material associate of the Group and its

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 R 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

16. BB AR Z8E (8)

A A B W W AR M A (BRER) AR W (3R
WL A 1) Pe 32 BEWG A 40 ) D 4R A R A
(T V9PN 5 1) Je I LB i A W) Z RE AN T

material subsidiaries, are as follows: (continued) (#)

Percentage

Place of  of ownership

incorporation/ interest
Particulars of registration attributable Principal
Name issued shares held and business  to the Grou activities

7% 4 19 A

BAECEST bR B A7
i BBy Z wt A 3 t:2 F TN t¥ipidA HEEH
Murray Catering Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kon 20.99 Provision of lunch
FR R A R A W R é‘i’é box and tuck shop
services
A ma X
/T IR A
New Kondo Trading Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kon 29.98 Trading in Japanese
W E A RA T Wi i food materials
H AR i
JFREHE 5
Restaurant Shiki Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kogé 29.98 Restaurant
it s operations
BELE
BT S A R A Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Trading
of RMB3,500,000 Mainland China in confectionery
[B% 958 N P PN < and food products
A B#3,500,00078 BREAERZHS
Four Seas (Guangzhou) Food Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Trading in
Import and Export Trading of RMB29,000,000 Mainland China confectionery
Company Limited O30 SR AR o vk R and food products
PO (BN At DR B A RRA T A B 29,000,0007¢ BREAERZHS
HUSE Y W A R A R AT Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.98 Manufacturing
of HK$37,000,000 Mainland China and packaging
AR B A o K of ham and
37,000,000% 7C ham-related
products
B0 T 2k KB B
AT OB S E
JBE N T R R T A PR A ] Paid-up capital PRC/ 29.69 Restaurant
of RMB73,959,210 Mainland China operations
CHRBA  E kR BRERE

A R #73,959,2107C

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Company’s directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates would,
in the opinion of the Company’s directors, result in particulars
of excessive length. All associates were indirectly held by the

Company.

5% BB A 4w o A AR A
AR M I O R A Z I A ] o AR
A R 2 At I ) o0 R 4 T
o B A TG A W3 A A R R R o

AR A B ] 2 K v I Y AR TG
AC SR [ DLAE 25 15 AR Z SRR B o BLIB A A W
Z B 7 W A2 By AR B e

FSMHL, which is considered a material listed associate of the
Group, is a strategic partner of the Group and is accounted for
using the equity method. The shares of this associate are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

CECCFER | ERARBREEZERERAA
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16. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

16.

R A 2 B ()

The following table illustrates the summarised financial
information of FSMHL, adjusted for any differences in

A2 5 Y Y5 I T R 2 (REAT A
Al SR 22 B ) RO A T R R T

accounting policies and reconciled to the carrying amount in the iz 3 -
consolidated financial statements:
2022 2021
—2—— T Y
HK$’000 HK$°000
T BT T
Current assets B 1,945,141 2,016,036
Non-current assets F R W & 1,407,100 1,544,803
Current liabilities A E (1,634,089) (1,708,413)
Non-current liabilities I B £ A (347,463) (474,643)
Net assets 7 EHE 1,370,689 1,377,783
Attributable to non-controlling interests S JB 7% Ik e RO ME 2 (28,406) (460)
Net assets attributable to equity holders of the associate W% 2\ =] HE 25 Fr 3 & HEAl 2
R 1,342,283 1,377,323
2022 2021
—®-— L Y
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T BT T
Reconciliation to the Group’s interest in the B A AR T T A R 2
associate: RE 25 2 #HHR -
Proportion of the Group’s ownership A4 A RE = L4l 29.98% 29.98%
Group’s share of net assets of the associate, AR A [ HEAL 8 A ] 2
excluding goodwill R A o LG T 402,689 413,197
Goodwill on acquisition WAL I I 2 v 13,885 13,885
Carrying amount of the investment in FSMHL B DY YN A B 2 R T 416,574 427,082
Revenues LN 4,729,976 4,579,837
Profit for the year A B Vs ) 19,812 31,648
Other comprehensive income for the year AR BE Ay 2 ] W 25 21,154 82,565
Total comprehensive income for the year A JiE 2 ) WA SRR 40,966 114,213
Dividends received from the associate OB 48 A Rl Z BB 10,947 10,947
Fair value of the Group’s investment in FSMHL A A T 3 7 O O 4R T 2
2FAE 315,725 298,441
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17.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

The following table illustrates the financial information of the
Group’s associate that is not individually material:

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

16. BB AR Z8E (8)

I S W A8 3 A Ja A A AR U ) Y B
BER

2022 2021
e S TR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
T T BT T
Share of the associate’s loss and total R A Wi 7 2 R 2 4 A i 4R

comprehensive loss for the year &) it 968 32

Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s investment — AX4E [H A 2 A ] Z & Z
in the associate MR T 48 - 968

In the prior year, the Group set up an associate, Loyal Property
and 40% of the issued shares of the associate were owned by the
Group at an investment cost of HK$1,000,000.

In the current year, the Group has discontinued the recognition of
losses of associate Loyal Property because the share of losses of
the associate exceeded the Group’s interest in the associate and
the Group has no obligation to take up further losses.

Y N B I vl R /N I
AREERH O BT Z40% » B & A %
1,000,000%5 JC °

TRACAE BE > A AR [ A T 0 A ) AR R
ZHE > 75 HEAG T A W) 2 e 1R R AR 4
7 B 8 A W) 2 R o T A 4R T Sl I B A R
M —PEH -

INVENTORIES 17. #8]
2022 2021
- S TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T T
Finished goods JE I 52,894 32,168
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES

18, ME MR 5 Wk

2022 2021

Y S TR

HKS$’000 HK$’000

T I BT

Trade receivables FE W’ 5 iRk 14,213 10,334
Impairment ok AE (104) 277)

14,109 10,057

The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally one to three
months. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group
seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding receivables
to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly
by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the
fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number
of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration
of credit risk. The Group does not hold any collateral or other
credit enhancements over these balances. Trade receivables are
non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

ALMEE P Z WS RM DG 85 T - W&
P el A K o fE B — 2=
H oo BA% PR 5 S B R o AGEE ) R Bk
A% 42 ) L v A WACH 2 B s I o BRI £ B L
B e 2 fp K o e AR BL R o 0T R A ) A
B o B LA R > DL AC AR [ W BT 5 R
KER L L eALwy % P A B o P I i KA
FEAR B o A 4R L S SRR 4 A R R A A AT
A B S A R AR T o MR 5 MR R TS S
B

T IR > AR IR EEST B KA B R R
FE W BT 5 B sk Z SR A AT AN

2022 2021
ot -Jantnt e Jat:

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT

Within 1 month EH A 7,453 7,795
1 to 2 months 1221 A 3,162 2,009
Over 2 months pXEDERY 3,494 253
14,109 10,057

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

JE Wi B2 5 e sk i < e IR AR A B T

2022 2021
- —B 4R
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT .3
At beginning of year HAEF) 277 9,040
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment) (note 7) WAE SR (B8 ) (K aE7) (173) 2717
Amount written off as uncollectible i 85 S T W ] 2k IR - (9,040)
At end of year R 104 277
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18. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e.,
by customer type and rating). The calculation reflects the
probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the
reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts
of future economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2022

Notes to Financial Statements
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18, MEWCR 5 Wk (4)

T A8 S 24 R P $88 4 R IO A A 2 A
V0wt B R0 A5 AR K o S804 3 75 B R B A 8
s L0 22 M8 % 5 43 B0 AT 2 AL (B4R %
PRI R A ) 43 ) i g v H M B e Rt
LR SR A A A R~ BN R E S i H
W WY A5 B A B AR O R BOR AR AL
WA TH B A £ B R B SCFE PR R -

AR A S ) e B SR R D A e
A7 5 L Bt A Y

R A=A =4—H

Past due
W
Less than 1to3 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
W AR—MH —Z2=MH HE=MA Bt
Expected credit loss rate B HE KR 0.72% 1.61% 7.41% = 0.73%
Gross carrying amount A0 TG 14,124 62 27 = 14,213
(HK$°000) (B HFL)
Expected credit losses A B R 101 1 2 = 104
(HK$°000) (BT L)
Past due
Less than 1to3 Over 3
Current 1 month months months Total
my AR—MmB —2=@MA HB=ZMEA Mt
Expected credit loss rate B HERER 1.70% 6.01% 15.81% - 2.68%
Gross carrying amount A8 R THI E 8,549 1,532 253 - 10,334
(HK$’000) (BT L)
Expected credit losses HfE B K 145 92 40 - 2717
(HK$’°000) (BHFL)
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19. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

20.

19. BAT K ~ 5T 4 K 3 fib ME ok

RECEIVABLES

2022 2021

—®—-— —R AR

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT BT T

Prepayments T A RO 5,775 436
Deposits and other receivables T 4 e At WAk T 6,469 2,865
12,244 3,301
Less: Portion classified as non-current W e o R s IR B Ay (3,851) (2,257)
8,393 1,044

The financial assets included in the above balances relate to
receivables for which there was no recent history of default and
past due amounts. As at 31 March 2022 and 2021, the Group
assessed the impact of loss allowance for impairment of deposits
and other receivables and considered it insignificant.

e A A P 4 Y < R SR JO) 3 B 4 i
e B ISk T ORI B - IR = F
B EZA =4 B AR EREAET &
Zﬁifj&é?ﬁl&%’/{ﬁZﬂﬁﬁE@ﬁﬁ% > SIf A
Z: o

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 20, $RA P B8 B 4 AR Z S
PROFIT OR LOSS
2022 2021
SRR ot SV
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT o
Listed equity investments, at fair value R - A PE 6,762 6,999
Other unlisted investments, at fair value HAbIE EHRE » A THE
— Equity investments — B i 11,020 7,117
— Club debenture -\ fE S 1,801 1,300
19,583 15,416
Less: Classified as non-current assets W A RIERE G E (12,821) (8,417)
Current portion B 35 35 47 6,762 6,999

During the year ended 31 March 2022, the Group acquired
other unlisted investments amounted to HK$5,888,000 (2021:
HK$6,987,000).

All listed equity investments as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 were
included under current assets and was classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss as they were held for
trading.

BEZRE=H=Z+—HIREEHM > K
A5 [ % A Al Ik b i 4 £55,888,000% 0 (—
B4 1 6,987,000%T) °

P LR B R AR R R A
ZHA=Z+—HERHARBIEEN > W8 B I%
PR AR AR Z Sl - T iR A
BETIFEEE -
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20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

21.

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

All unlisted equity investment as at 31 March 2022 amounting
to HK$11,020,000 (2021: HK$7,117,000) was included in
non-current assets and was classified as financial value through
profit or loss as the Group intends to hold for the long-term
strategic purpose.

The unlisted club debenture was mandatorily classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as their
contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and
interest.

In the prior year, the Group acquired listed equity investment

Notes to Financial Statements
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20. 4% 2P B 8 4 2 A MR 2 4k A (A

R-BZHE=ZA=+—H  rEIELTHER
# ¥ 11,020,000% 70 (ZF Z—4F : 7,117,000%5
J6) R AJERBIE AN » WA B A BRER
ARZ SREE > TTHAAREEERFAERY

SR & -

FE b T €7 PR R R SR ) A B R 4R A TE B R R
MARZ GRE R > B EFEZAFHB SR

S e P S A AR 4 B Bl

T2 A [ O LT RE 25 3 B 1,816,000

amounted to HK$1,816,000. JC e
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 21. Bl RBE%MEEH
2022 2021
g T S
HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT o BT o
Cash and bank balances B4 RBRAT R 66,212 56,124
Time deposits with original maturity of W R D AT 29 H
less than three months when acquired A=A A Z B E K 26,240 88,964
92,452 145,088

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounted
to HK$16,752,000 (2021: HK$4,197,000). The RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

—EooEER |

PRI > AREMYARE (T AR 5
Z B & XA EMEIEH %16,752,0008 50 (ZF
T4 14,197,000 00) o AR H H AL
e il £ W o ARUAR4E o 1B O e A1 A B 1)
A5 ME ~ B T M AT ME A B > AN BV B R
HE R R AT AP RE S B 2 BRAT A N R S

AT B B 3R Ag H ST A2 KA 3R DL B A1) 5 eI
IS, o J 9 5 9 A2 sk B A i 0T 45 A A I > AP
—HE=MEA > BLPACGE B B R B A 7 R
SE > Sl 15 45 9 A BT AR R B R R R IR L o
SRAT K AE TS A AL 0 I S 0 A RE Bk B LA

3£ G
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22. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES 22, HEAT BB MRk B SR
An ageing analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of R EREBIR > MBS E AW Z B SRR &
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: ERZIREB ST -
2022 2021
HKS$’000 HK$’000
T BT
Within 1 month 1 H A 4,237 7,638
1 to 2 months 12218 H 4 393
4,241 8,031
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally FEAT ' 5 Mk B e B e — I 3530 60 H A FR 45
settled on terms of 30 to 60 days. £} o
23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 23, A M A K % Mt £ 4
31 March 31 March
2022 2021

SR SR
ZH=+—H Z=A=+—H

Note HK$’000 HK$’000
M 7t BT o o
Other payables JEAth, JE A 3K IH (a) 243 186
Accruals WEE A E 7,321 5,460
7,564 5,646
Less: Portion classified as non-current W 433 A IR U B EB Ay (400) (200)
7,164 5,446
Note: MEE -
(a)  Other payables are non-interest-bearing and have an average term of (a) HAGWEAFIET%RE > EEYFHEBE=MA -

three months.
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24.

25.

Notes to Financial Statements

7 | E
B %5 3R 5 Bt =
31 March 2022 Z2=-Z%=8=+—H
INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 24. BT R B Z BT B
2022 2021
SRR —FF
Effective Effective
interest interest
rate  Maturity  HK$’000 rate Maturity HK$°000
YR fAWMB  AB¥FTC HEMNX WA BT
Current I
Trust receipt loans AR5 FE OB 1.56% Within 35,235 1.38% Within 21,214
— unsecured Tk 12 months == 12 months
12 A W 1218 A A
All trust receipt loans are denominated in Hong Kong dollars and JI A £5 w6 Wi R sk DA ¥ o wHE I 4% 2 B R 2
bear interest at floating interest rates. Ignoring the effect of any R A o BRI E R RN — R 2
standard repayment on demand clause and based on the maturity UL EAGA R S Z MR Z B WS -
terms of the above interest-bearing bank borrowings, they are JHR—E N o
repayable within one year.
DEFERRED TAX 25. MEHE B
The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as AERNEERIEAEZ SEHmT
follows:
Deferred tax liabilities B %€ BLIH £ 4k
Depreciation
allowance in
excess of related
depreciation
e 45 55
HIBH 7 5
HKS$’000
BHTI
At 1 April 2020 PR ZEFEMNA—H 332
Deferred tax charged to the statement of AR A R A 2 9 P B 2 0B R
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (Mti#t10) 183
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 MR —F=ZA=Z1—H AR _—FH—H 515
Deferred tax credited to the statement of ARAR FE A 8 25 78 9 10 I =2 0 A A 0
profit or loss during the year (note 10) (HfaE10) (308)
At 31 March 2022 R-FZ_H#=A=+—H 207
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25. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 25, JEAEBLH (4)
Deferred tax assets YE 9 B ¥
Depreciation in  Losses available
excess of related for offsetting
depreciation against future
allowance taxable profits Total
o JH DA LM AR
i s R B ik A
HI B 7 45 P85 2 M 41 st
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
T T BT BT
At 1 April 2020 PR EFENA—H = 332 332
Deferred tax credited to the AR ERBRENTTAZ
statement of profit or loss WRIERLIE (M7t 10)
during the year (note 10) 207 440 647
At 31 March 2021 and REFZ-H=ZA=Z+—HK
1 April 2021 R WA —H 207 772 979
Deferred tax credited to the AR ERBRENTTAZ
statement of profit or loss BIEBLIE (K ik10)
during the year (note 10) 129 60 189
At 31 March 2022 REF-Z-H#=HA=+—H 336 832 1,168
For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and MEFINE » & TEREREEERAKCTRY
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position. BRI E TS - U T AMMBEHREHNZA
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the B2 9% A8 L I 45 R 4 AT -
Group for financial reporting purposes:
2022 2021
—®- ot SV
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the R B 5 MR DL T R Y
consolidated statement of financial position 2 91 50 961 464
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25.

26.

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had tax losses
arising in Hong Kong of approximately HK$309,696,000 (2021:
HK$290,429,000) that are available indefinitely for offsetting
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the
losses arose. In the prior years, there was deductible temporary
difference of HK$9,040,000 that were available indefinitely
for offsetting against future taxable profits of the companies.
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

Notes to Financial Statements
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25. YEREBLIE ()

RECERIR > REEH B HEEEZBUEE R
#1309,696,000%5 JC (=& — — 4 : 290,429,000
Woo) AER B R Z SR BEREZ AT
Z AR MR B I o AR > ACHE A W) BR
B Rk 25 %4109,040,0009 ¢ > A JE PRI H AR K30
T Z K R EERABLRE A o 3 R Wk T 4 408 H

2022 2021
—® Y-

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT T T T

Tax losses 75 i 18 304,653 285,743

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits
will be available against which the above items can be utilised.

At the end of the reporting period, there was no significant
unrecognised deferred tax liability (2021: Nil) for taxes that
would be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group’s
subsidiaries.

H 2% 1 B8 K AT RE 1 h BL AT bl I K
Z MERA A1) > WO SRR b Y ) e A R A

T E o

TP TR > WO S TR A 55 Y D ) 2 R E
B e 2 A T ) 35 R R AR e 2 AaE

HAR(CFID 4 ) -

SHARE CAPITAL 26. JBAR

Shares BBy
2022 2021
ot Jante TR
HKS$°000 HK$°000
BT oo

Issued and fully paid: CBAT R -

259,586,000 ordinary shares 259,586,000/ 5 7 it 117,095 117,095

Share options

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included in
note 27 to the financial statements.

—EooEER |
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any director or employee of the Company’s
subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds any equity
interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the “Scheme”). The Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years up to 27 August 2022, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect in all other respects. Share options
complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are
granted during the duration of the Scheme and those which
remain unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year
period shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of grant as within the share option period for which such
share options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the
Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 25,958,600 ordinary shares,
being 10% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 25,958,600 ordinary
shares, representing 10% of the existing issued share capital of
the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable under
share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company (excluding any independent
non-executive director who is a grantee of the share options). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time or with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company’s shares at the date of each
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

27. W JBE BE B

A V) A i PR T Sl R O S % e S R AR
MEEEGAARERMZAERZIME - 5t #)
ZHEW2MEBEANF ZEF (BIGHT
FERATH ) ~ bR B RA A R FE A R K
A SR [ A A JBE 0 AR 2 2 B S A o 2
A -

RoF-ZAENHZHNAH » RAFRRA—H
i PR R it ) ([ 3 1) o it 2 A RO 2 104 »
ERHENASHEARILL s RREAE
P42 A Ao i P M > ARS8 2 MR AE B A A
75 T ATS R A2 B B A 3K o B AR A b i BRI
BIF > S BI04 B R AR > B AE R E)
Y00 e 8 A3 A AT 8 2 D P B o A3 T T
RESZ Y WF Z R PEATRE > SEANSZ AT B S8

H B R B T 3 A W % 2 R AT R B
T 8 3 H %525,958,600% 1% 48 B o A &R A A
AAEZE-"FNA T NHOBTREZ
10% o RAH - H ) » MR 5HE w4317 2 B
13 8 H #525,958,600)8 % 8 Bt > A& R AR A
BEBITHRAZ10% o BT+ 8 A 1 H
W WEFTHTRF#HNZEEGEKSHE
BEAT 2 Bt o B0 8 B S 8 I AR 2 ] AR AT i IRy
2z EVBAT IR 2 1% o AR A] i — 2 3% A
%ﬁz%%%’wﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁimﬁﬁﬁm

BYAAFES - R TB B EERK
B A5 2 A T W e N\ L 2 IR RE > R SIS
A F R S I AT A R o) 8 452 7 B
B b S JE AT E F ARG BAEN) o BAb
AEA AT+ A8 A I 4R P A W] 2 BB
B IERATE R > RN FZEMBRALZ
A J g 0 2 A 2 W) A ] IR ) 2 AT M
P 2.0 1% 3 B8 E (F2 352 W I B 2 M 4y
Wi AR L o E > IR
JBe R BB B R A HE o
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27. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company,
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.
The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company’s
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be
achieved before the share option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company’s shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day;
(ii) the average of the closing prices of the Company’s shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company’s shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

During the year, no share option was granted to the directors
and other employees of the Company or employees of any of the
Company’s subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds
any equity interests (2021: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
options outstanding under the Scheme (2021: Nil).

—EooEER |
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27. WERBeHEST B (4

5% HH IR e WE 2 sl ZE S 52 L R IR RE i 2 H A
HEEF =)\ H A > AR AR E R AR
E 5% 58 1 452 1 B e e il B M A > R
WA 2 A 0 I ME 2 B - ) 19 e (AR T
AT s M BERE 2 B o I AS REAE N LR ST
JE B Ak H AR A o i 2 R RE 2
R B AT Bl T 2 A B R LV A B R
A6 1 A 55 AHAS B RS GO BB 4 8 AR 5 (i) G O
AT > 31 PR R B 28 7 R B 2 O EE
104 5 (iid) I IBERE Sc S ZE F5 5 2 A A W4T (A
) s KGv)EB HEE > 2 8547 00 1 B HE Jr

AIERZRBAR(WMA) -

Ji e W 2 A AP o o A R I A > AT B Y
AT 002 M ZE0T7 42 D e e e W > SRR
T VLT B8 R (i) A 2 ) M A A S 457 B e
WH (HR/Z 5 H) 18 B d H ARk
Wi 48T 5 Gii) AR 2 Rl B A T SR B 42 Y D T st ik
3 i A 22 5 H A 622 B A H 3 (8 B

TR 5 KA A B B Z T E o

Ji T SN S R A N MCHRUBE B B IR R K

ERFEZHES -

AN > RS Z N B RE T A O ) g A
B sl A2 ) F A R R A AR A T A

mZHMZEE (SF 4 ) -

T IR > A2 R BT S S 8 AR AT

SRt (R4 ) -
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28.

29.
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RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on page 55 and 56 of the financial
statements.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group’s
associates operating as Foreign Investment Enterprises in
Mainland China has been transferred to the share of other
reserves of associates. As at 31 March 2022, the share of other
reserves of associates of HK$5,483,000 (2021: HK$5,294,000)
was non-distributable in nature and could be utilised to offset the
losses incurred.

The revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an
owner-occupies property to an investment property carried at fair
value as at 1 February 2022.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions

During the year, the Group had non-cash lease modification
and termination to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$1,204,000 (2021: HK$3,547,000) and HK$2,201,000
(2021: HK$3,547,000), respectively, and non-cash
additions to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of
HK$17,708,000 (2021: HK$8,877,000) and HK$16,940,000
(2021: HK$8,777,000), respectively, in respect of lease
arrangements for buildings.

During the current year, the Group recognised the estimated
obligations, included in the Group’s right-of-use assets of
HK$200,000 (2021: HK$100,000) to dismantle and remove
and restore the restaurant to the condition required by the
terms and conditions of the lease.

In the prior year, the Group set up an associate, Loyal
Property, at an investment cost of HK$1,000,000 and the
investment cost was settled through the current account with
the associate.

28.

29.

ik 5

AR [ AR A7 P9 B0 A 4 B 2 Ak A % L0 ) A A
B A ESSH RSO H Z AR A BB RN 25 o

FEEA B A B R ARG > A4
5 % R R B DA A T 3 A S R 2
2 ) LR S R LA 8 A e R s 404 T 2 4 )
ZHMMGER e N _F_E=HA=+—H 4
A Bk 8 4 R 2 Al fk A 4 5,483,000¥ 8 (&
T4 1 5,204,0008 JG) > B A AT 4R IR 4
& > WA RIS TR R 2 B -

A EE TR F FH—H
&> NHHWEZ M@ E Rk A FEIIRZ
BHEWE -

55 BLA U B R Mk

(a) RFEFEBERS

N AREE BT ZHE RPN IER
S A B R Tk 4K 0k s 8 RE O E R
& £ 151,204,000 06 (= F . —4
3,547,000% 7¢) &2,201,000% 76 (=&
4R 1 3,547,0008 08) > DA Rl REE
T R A AR 4 B 8 i JE B 4217,708,000
Wit (ZF = —4 18,877,000 6) K
16,940,000%# T (= F ——4¢ : 8,777,000
JG) o

P NG9 1 N Y B e QAN N B R
RE & s B Al 5t £ 35200,0008 8 (8 ——
4 1 100,00087C) > LIEF - BB K 1E1E
AR B A A0 2 R B A i B AR o

AR 5 ZAS S5 I ST I AN W) R IR M E
& A 1,000,000 70 » EFAC B
W ER S AR B IR P A -
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31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 29. B BLA R R ()
CASH FLOWS (continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) RAESHAELAMZED
Interest-
Lease bearing bank
liabilities borrowings
HBATF R
AL A Z BT B
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT o BT o
At 1 April 2020 R-RZFFEMNHA—H 19,477 20,469
Changes from financing cash flows il B 4 U R A ) (4,397) 745
New lease FifLA) 8,777 =
Lease modification iENER (3,547) =
Interest expense F 8 B % 488 -
Interest paid classified as SR RBREBEMEZ
operating cash flows [ERERD:S (488) -
Covid-19-related rent concessions & B HA A ZCovid-19
from lessors A B L4 50 (355) =
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R_F_HF=ZA=Z1T—HRK
TR ENA—H 19,955 21,214
Changes from financing cash flows il B i A ) (6,152) 14,021
New lease LA 16,940 —
Lease modification FH B 15 37) -
Interest expense F S B X 281 =
Interest paid classified as operating cash flows SERBEBEREZ
eATF & (281) =
Covid-19-related rent concessions from lessors R B HA A ZCovid-19
1 TR L 4 T Uk (241) =
Termination of a lease during the year ERNKIEHE (2,164) -
At 31 March 2022 Mo HE=ZA=Z+—H 28,301 35,235
(¢) Total cash outflow for leases (c) REZBLAU A%
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement FPABL &R BRI M E Z B &3 AR
of cash flows is as follows: FIF
2022 2021
TR TR R
HK$’000 HK$’000
T 0 BT T
Within operating activities BEEHN 11,088 7,870
Within financing activities il 4 B A 6,152 4,397
17,240 12,267
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31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30. BBALRY
(a) The Group had the following material transactions with (a) FW > ARBEFBEIEEA LT FHEKR
its related parties during the year: By
2022 2021
—®- ot SV
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT T BT
Rental income received from T R 2 > ) O EORE 4 W A
related companies 1) 601 601
Rental income received from associates 17 B 5 23 ] WU 4 W A (ii) 1,023 871
Sales of goods to associates s A B R S (iii) 815 339
Purchases of goods from associates I M 2 E) AR (iv) 956 1,529
Marketing service income from Te) B 2 ) WS T IR 25
associates WA (v) 1,512 1,316
Consultancy services fee paid to a 1) B > W) 2 4 R
non-controlling shareholder of a AT BB IR B
subsidiary (vi) 450 360
Purchases of goods from a non- i P B A ) 2 ¥ I R
controlling shareholder of subsidiary ~ $RE il (vii) 32,961 13,792
Notes: M it

()

(i1)

(iif)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

The tenancy agreements were entered into with the related
parties on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended
and renewed until terminated by either party.

The tenancy agreements were entered into with associates
on mutually agreed terms. The leases can be extended and
renewed until terminated by either party.

The sales of goods to associates were agreed between parties.

The purchases from the associates were agreed between
parties.

The marketing service income was agreed between parties.
The consultancy services fee paid to a non-controlling
shareholder was determined between the non-controlling

shareholder and the Group.

The purchases from a non-controlling shareholder were agreed
between parties.

() BT Toh 7 ph B N b e LR 2 K
WIOL o FAAIEN] S A - HEART—T5
TUHKIL -

(i) A b A U P M 4 ) R LR E 2 R
BIOL o RAATIEI R A » BB
TUKIL -

(i) I I A 4 B T B T 2045 T T E o

(v) I B8 2y W) BRI T3 R T A 45 D5 i A -

(v)  EHIMEWATT T R AT A -
(vi) I 8 JB M R S A 1) I 25 22 7 v 42
JBe 3R B A 4 B FEAE o

(vid) 1 458 JB e JBe AT BR W 75 W T 2045 07 i S o
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30. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(a)

(b)

(c)

The Group had the following material transactions with
its related parties during the year: (continued)

The related party transactions in respect of items (ii) to
(vii) above constitute continuing connected transactions
as defined in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. Since the
amounts in respect of items (ii) to (vi) are below de minimis
threshold for the purposes of Rule 14A.76 of the Listing
Rules, items (ii) to (vi) are fully exempt from shareholders’
approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
under the Listing Rules. Item (vii) above is entered in
accordance with the master supply agreement between
a non-controlling shareholder and the Group, details of
which are included in the Group’s announcement dated 21
September 2018, 25 March 2021 and 7 December 2021, and
are subject to reporting and announcement requirements
but exempt from the independent shareholders’ approval
requirement pursuant to Rule 14A.101 of the Listing Rules.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the balances with associates at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 16 to the financial
statements.

()

(i) The amount due to a non-controlling shareholder is
unsecured, interest-free and repayable under normal

trading terms.

Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 R 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

30. BN L2 5 (4)
(a) 4FWN > ANEFEILEHMA L5 PO E KR

(b)

2y (8)

B3 GhE (viD)JEA B Z BN 1R 5 R
TR B AR 5 (F b B B A 14 A S i iR
T2ZEF) o H¥ LX) EN)EA B AH
A BB RSB 14A 7606 BT R B AR s 4R
K> Q1) Z(vi) B A 2 T AR B R v~
SEERGMTE LU AR E 2 PE - b
S (vii)JE TR — 4% Ik 12 I It R B A 4 [
FTOL 2 AP R AT > R RO A
H¥—Z—)4ELAZ+—H ZF_—
FEAZFTHHAEAZR—F+HLH
ZAEN S WEE S LS 14A.101
6 B i e AR B - M R S0 0 ST B T
B R AL 2 BLE -

BB N k- 22 v R IR A B
(i) T E IR > BB A ] Z R GE

T > R S At B RE 16

T A e 5 e JBE SRk JE 2 SR ~ S B
Be 3k — 1t B 5 foosk HE 8 o

(i1)

() AEMEEFHARZHM :

2022 2021

—E BT

HK$’000 HK$°000

T T BT T

Short term employee benefits R B AR A 5,602 6,016

Pension scheme contributions B4 FH#) Z gk 34 43
Total compensation paid to key GO X2 UNESZ L)

management personnel I A A 5,636 6,059

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in note 8
to the financial statements.

—BCoFER |
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2022
Financial assets

31.

SR THR2Z S8

F#EEIR > FB e TR ZREENT

:;%::
SR
Financial assets at

fair value through
ﬂ{’)rofit or loss

A V-5
HaAMRZ
2 %
Mandatory Financial
designated assets at
as such amortised co&} Total
NI L .
01 9 Z AW E B 5t
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT
Listed equity investments ik R E 6,762 - 6,762
Unlisted club debenture I b oy A 27 1,801 — 1,801
Unlisted equity investments EINIIE: ETE A 11,020 - 11,020
Trade receivables FE W & 5 Bk - 14,109 14,109
Financial assets included in BIGRFAANKIE 5T &Rk
prepayments, deposits and At JE WK T 2 4 i
other receivables (note 19) (Hfit19) - 6,469 6,469
Due from associates JHE W 42 2\ ) - 1,698 1,698
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RB4A&%MEER - 92,452 92,452
19,583 114,728 134,311
2021 = ? ——fE
Financial assets G il
Financial assets at
fair value through
profit or loss
eos T AUB M
Hag A2
G B
Mandatory Financial
designated assets at
as such amortised cost Total
e
JEACH T .
i e 2 4 b At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT 8 oo
Listed equity investments LT RERE R Y 6,999 - 6,999
Unlisted club debenture I b g R A% 1,300 - 1,300
Unlisted equity investments ENIIY EoE A 7,117 - 7,117
Trade receivables FE W 5 AR Ak - 10,057 10,057
Financial assets included in BIGRFAKIE 5T &K%
prepayments, deposits and th 18 WOk T 2 4 T
other receivables (note 19) (Mf#t19) = 2,865 2,865
Due from associates JRE WLt 2 2 ) - 184 184
Cash and cash equivalents B4 K Bl & S5 HIE H - 145,088 145,088
15,416 158,194 173,610
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31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

32.

Notes to Financial Statements
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31. W T H2Z 8 (5)

31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

(continued)
Financial liabilities 4 b £ 4%
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
e B 38 A N R g 4 v £ A
2022 2021
ot S TR TR
HKS$’000 HK$’000
BT o o
Trade and bills payables JE A B 5 Wk B SR 0 4,241 8,031
Financial liabilities included in other A 455 7 At JRE Ak JE e HE R
payables and accruals (note 23) AR Z S EAR (H7E23) 243 186
Due to associates JFE 45 Bt 5 A ] 69 1,249
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JRE A I 422 e Jt R 4,311 3,057
Interest-bearing bank borrowings ZH BT R B Z SRAT B 35,235 21,214
Lease liabilities MEAME 28,301 19,955
72,400 53,692

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
were carried at fair value.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, trade receivables, trade and bills payables,
financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other
receivables, financial liabilities included in other payables and
accruals, amounts due from/to associates, an amount due to a
non-controlling shareholder and interest-bearing bank borrowings
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short
term maturities of these instruments.

The Group’s finance team is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The finance team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and
annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

—BCoFER |

32, Grih AL Z A TAE B AT Bt

AR ) 2 O SFEE 0 1 4R AR 2 S Rl T

A TPAEBIIR -

LG At > Bla KB ESMEE - BRH
Sk ~ B AT B ek B SRR ~ A A K
JH AT M A MR WORIH 2 R A - AR
Al B A MRk e M B B - R
PRI 08 W) Z R IE ~ HEAS I M e SRk IE A &
BT A B BRAT B 2 O P18 B LR G K
BRI > F B % S TR RN A I

AR [0 F B T I  BE RAE L SPEEE
BEOR R o B X B W AT E S R
WAL H G MR o R el H Y > S8 P B
S AT 4 TR R S > I P T R A 1
P 32 B AL o Al B Pl AT B o B it ol o
il 1630 T % A5 SR A 4 T RS P ) D 2 A B S R

B A% & Bt o

S A M R AR AP TR BB 5 7
(5 78 S 5 M HH B R Ah) BT 50 TR AT 2 5 6
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133



134

Notes to Financial Statements

Bt %5 5 B A

31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

32. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices. The fair value of the unlisted club debenture is
based on market observable transactions. The fair value of certain
unlisted equity investment as at 31 March 2022 and 2021 is
estimated by reference to latest private transactions in illiquid
markets, which management has determined that no adjustment
was required as of year-end date as the recent transaction price
was considered to provide good indication of fair value. The fair
value of certain unlisted investment as at 31 March 2022 and
2021 is estimated using a net asset value valuation technique
based on parameters that are supported by observable market
price or rates. The fair value of certain unlisted investment
as at 31 March 2022 is estimated by using a market approach
valuation model based on market multiples and discount for lack
of marketability.

Below is a summary of the significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of financial instrument together with a qualitative
satisfy analysis as at 31 March 2022:

32. Arigh T Z AP B AT i B (51

TR i % A O T8 DA i A R o
T R R B o T DL AT B i B 52 By A A
B o HTIEEMESRER F_FR R
TEEAE T HZXATESE R B
5 0 5500 AN 22 S 3 AT At > A8 BILE TR AE >
BEFLEHAATEELE > TIHRBIENR
oy M BER 2 T 2 i P E PR B R AP 4R - 5 T
FEETHRER F_ER R F=R
= H Z AP B R 7 AT 5 1 5 AR B
A RS R5 1 2 W0 R AR AN A 3 - A T
EWHEER R _HEEA=ETHZATE
T3 B8 FH T 5 3 A (RS AR AR T 355 4 M S ke 2 i
555 I 90 B 00 A 5 o

VAT 7 4 1 TR AW B = KA T 980 ¢ i A\ A 1
Lo MR R EEA=ZTHZERY
REBE S #T

Increase/ Favourable/

Significant (decrease) in (unfavourable)

Valuation unobservable unobservable impact on

technique inputs Range inputs profit or loss

LR ¥ H#n®z

HAAAB%E WA AR (BH)

A L5 % LN WE O ¥/ (RS) 2

HK$’000

#Y T

An unlisted equity investment Market approach Discount for lack of 12.0% - 13.2% 5% (31)

I b RERR B W 8 marketability (5%) 31
19 22 T 355 i 2 T 4

Market multiples 2.57-2.84 5% 219

LR~ gt (5%) (219)
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B 8 3R 5 M aE
31 March 2022 Z2=-Z%=8=+—H
32. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 32, Grih T Z A PR B AT fE N B (A
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy AR Ry
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement T R A4 [ At T L A P R AN
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments:
Assets measured at fair value: LA TR0 & -
As at 31 March 2022 R AHEZA=Z4—H
Fair value measurement using
AV AR
Quoted Group Group
prices  Significant Significant
in active  observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
L IUN LN
6 W ] B g A B
WA WAL HA i .
B—J8) GGE—M) (GB=)w) b
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
B TL HEBEFTIT BYTLT HEBFTIL
Financial assets at fair value ?i/ix\:lziﬁ%‘iﬂ@ﬁ]\ﬁ@
through profit or loss: Z R i
Listed equity investments LR 6,762 = = 6,762
Unlisted club debenture I L& i 27 - 1,801 - 1,801
Unlisted equity investments I BT R E - 2,760 8,260 11,020
6,762 4,561 8,260 19,583
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32. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)
Assets measured at fair value: (continued)

As at 31 March 2021

32.

Sl T H 2 AP B 2T v B (A1)

B FHRE ()
APt 20 B E (A7)
RoF#=H=+—H

Fair value measurement using

ONF (BT IR

Quoted Group Group

prices  Significant Significant

in active  observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

HHEEKX HHEEK

5 R ] e R ks

e iy \ MG iy A\
(58—J) (58 =) (SE=)4) fat
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
T W TT T W TT

Financial assets at fair value W TEZE BB AR
through profit or loss: Z 4 R E

Listed equity investments iR AR 6,999 - - 6,999
Unlisted club debenture JE L& P o - 1,300 - 1,300
Unlisted equity investments LT RE - 3,230 3,887 7,117
6,999 4,530 3,887 15,416

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 during

the year are as follows:

FRERE =2 AFERRZEHNT

Equity investments at fair value through profit or loss T84 6 75 3 T 2% A\ Rk 2 HE 25 L
2022 2021
—®2-— R4
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T BT T
At 1 April A —H 3,887 =
Purchases Jiig 3,888 3,881
Total gains recognised in the statement RS AN A AN
of profit or loss included in other income oAt g A B W 25
and gains, net BRI A A 428 6
Exchange realignment [ 50, i 2% 57 =
At 31 March RE=H=+—H 8,260 3,887

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into
or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and financial liabilities

(2021: Nil).

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair

value as at 31 March 2022 (2021: Nil).

AR > B R AR AE SR S SR R T A o
B AT wH B - T 4 Rl RE A M G il B BRI SR =
Jig S 28 A B 2 AL (R A ) o

ROFZTAEZH = H o ARG AT
BATVHG B2 EMAE (ST ) -
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e Excluding retained profits
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BF 5 3R MY R
31 March 2022 ZE2=Z=#=8A=+—H
33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 33. W5 B 4T B H R B SR
AND POLICIES
The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise A 2 A Fh T H A E A R B 2 SRAT
interest-bearing bank borrowings and cash and cash equivalents. TR KB ERBEEHEEH - ZF4MTHZ
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise FERIE T R A 2 BE R o AL EBEA
finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other FE W 5 Mk T FEA & 5 MRk T iR S A4 R L
financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade fhsmEERAM THERESHEEEL -
and bills payables, which arise directly from its operations.
The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments PR A 42 [ 2 4 i T L g A 2 3 B A R R
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity JE B~ A B A R R~ O B 4 B
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and TSR R B o 3 S AL K IR A A TE
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are SRR 2 i E BRI R .
summarised below.
Interest rate risk ) 3 M BE
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest A 55 [ 2 7R 00 T 0 ) A A R o s B B A 4
rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash and cash equivalents [ B 4 K Bl 4 SHIE H B DL E B A K5 E 2 A
and short term debt obligations with floating interest rates. BB ELA R -
The Group’s funding policy uses short term interest-bearing debts AR 2 4 B SR G A T S0 2R B R R =2 AR
to finance its working capital requirements. The Group borrows BRI G S T o AR ) 3 BT B A
mainly at floating interest rates. A o
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably TR AR A Z B R 1 M A B R A
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held PR 2 & BLW] RESE B (9T A7 0 fl PR 3% 45 1 5)
constant, of the Group’s loss before tax (through the impact on Z UK (7 18 B 4 B B 4 I H BV ) R
cash and cash equivalents and floating rate borrowings) and the fEFRRI L2 o
Group’s equity.
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in (decrease)
basis points loss before tax in equity*
£ I B i M R B i+
¥im,/ (W) B,/ (&) B, (W)
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT
2022 —E=-=
Hong Kong dollar Wt 50 (274) =
Hong Kong dollar Wt (50) 274 -
2021 ZEFIT A
Hong Kong dollar Wt 50 (614) -
Hong Kong dollar #IT (50) 614 -

o NEEER A
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
arise from sales or expenses of operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. The Group’s monetary
assets, financing and transactions were principally denominated
in Hong Kong dollar and United States dollar.

Since the Hong Kong dollar is pegged to the United States dollar,
the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk in respect of the
bank balances and trade and bills payables denominated in United
States dollars is considered to be minimal.

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group’s exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross
carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2022

33. S LB 4Y B H B B BOR ()

A WE M, 8

A 45 1 2 R o R o % S R U TR
A8 BLAL DL % B Ar 2 T e B DA A 2 B AT
HE S ML ABEEEWEE  BER
R oy FEVHETC K SFETUE A

HI R o0 BLSE e 8 > PRI o AR T AT B DA 5
O REAE 2 SRAT &5 Bk e M A B2 5 B sk B SR 4 2 Bh
HHE e o A 8 2 B /D> o

1 £ L B

ARG EREAZREBATEZEPETR
By o IR M Z B » A BER AR AT
RHMER > AGBEBGEREZERT - I
Bb > ACHR 5 I R A R 2 L > T AR
P - 3 e L o e A K o

B K I A A B

RPN R AR E A RECRAE R R K
e KA BB o 3 SR R A T R (BRI I Al
R AT A R A H A 0 BERAR 55 ) YA UL T
B > RN =H =4 H 4RI By Bl
M o Bt B B < A 4 il 7 1 AR T . -

R A=A =4—H

12-months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
1248 73 B9
BT 2 00 BB T L%
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BRBR SRR BB R (473 A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT #WTOC HBW¥FTIK BT EB¥FTI
Financial assets A 1
Trade receivables* JE W 5 B ko - - 14,213 14,213
Financial assets included in #F AT 2KIE ~ 5T 4
prepayments, deposits and 5 H- b FE Wk IH 2
other receivables S E
— Normal*#* — I e 6,469 = = = 6,469
Due from associates JRE W Bk 42 A ) 1,698 - - - 1,698
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KB &% HIEH
— Not yet past due — W AR 92,452 - - = 92,452
100,619 - - 14,213 114,832
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued)

As at 31 March 2021

Notes to Financial Statements
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31 March 2022 ZE==F=A=+—8

33. S LB 4Y BIH B B BOR ()

1o SE B8 (1)
B A A A BE (A7)
R HEEZH=+—H

12-months
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
124 7
& R Y EBEHEER
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
BB BB RS fili b At
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
ML T EETFoL BT EETx
Financial assets ¥ A
Trade receivables* JRE W B 5 R ek - - - 10,334 10,334
Financial assets included in #F AFEAT#EH ~ 5T & &

prepayments, deposits and il B Wk I 2 4 il

other receivables "

— Normal** — 1F e 2,865 - - - 2,865
Due from associates JFE WL W 2% A ] 184 - - - 184
Cash and cash equivalents  Bl& KBl &5 {EHH

— Not yet past due — W AR ] 145,088 - - - 145,088

148,137 - - 10,334 158,471
#* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified #* ol A A [ S S A R D R A 3 B4 R MK 2 B IR A T

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix

is disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
*#*%  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayment,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be “doubtful”.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade and other receivables are disclosed
in notes 18 and 19, respectively, to the financial statements.

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between

continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of
interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease liabilities.

—EooEER |

o HR A F8R A R ORI A 1 84
ok AT AT G B A Wk T P B i
B T A A 3D e e Sl 90 RS 6 1 0 4 i R A
2R 1 A 8 R AT K 3 o U % 45 <l ¥ E Y
R RBAE AR [IEN | o B > %5 4l v
AR SRR L [ 5]

255 [ R M B2 2 MRk T LA R MR =2 A
JEL G 22 56 A S 2 S 4 o ke 28 A B s S R 18
%19 o

L B ¥ 4 e B

ACER B2 AR P AL Y B et TR B
BV G JE A K o b TR % R Gl TR R
Sl A (hn HE BT B Ak ) 2 Rk E AL
BRBHENBERE -

A 1 A P 0 P 04 I8 2 B
SERORAL BB R A M B O
FAf -
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual
undiscounted payments, is as follows:

33.

Y 5 B 4 B B B BOORE ()
it ) o 4 L B (7))
IR CRT AR IS BUHRRR » DLF 38050 AR 4 18 7 i
HHRZeMARBIHAE
2022
- S
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
e 98 Jn 5%
At 126 A — R AR st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

W T T BT

Trade and bills payables FEAT B 5 IRk B 5 4,241 = 4,241
Other payables o Ath JE A FR 3K 243 - 243
Due to associates JRE A Wi 42 2 ] 69 - 69
Due to a non-controlling shareholder JE A I ¥ B e R 4,311 - 4,311
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE AT R B Z SR AT Rk
(excluding lease liabilities) (A EFEHE A ) 35,257 = 35,257
Lease liabilities MERAME 10,098 18,832 28,930
54,219 18,832 73,051
2021
G S
On demand
or less than 1to5
12 months years Total
538 50 Bk
Ak 1208 H — B HA HEt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
o o BT
Trade and bills payables FEAT B 5 IR K 5 8,031 - 8,031
Other payables HC Al IR A HR K 186 - 186
Due to associates FE £ B 22 A ) 1,249 - 1,249
Due to a non-controlling shareholder A e 42 JBe % 3R 3,057 - 3,057
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE AT R B Z SR AT Rk
(excluding lease liabilities) (N 45 AL B B D 21,226 - 21,226
Lease liabilities ME A 6,845 13,622 20,467
40,594 13,622 54,216
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33. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)
Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(note 20) as at 31 March 2022.

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments and other
unlisted equity investment had been 3% higher/lower, with all
other variables held constant, the Group’s loss for the year would
have decreased/increased by approximately HK$533,000 (2021:
HK$423,000), respectively. As a result of the changes in the fair
value of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares.

As at 31 March 2022, there was no indication of breach of
covenants. No changes were made in the objectives, policies or
processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2021.

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable
to equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end
of the reporting periods were as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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33. S LB 4Y BIH B B BOR ()

JBe 53¢ U R L Bt

I 55% M A% R it 4 PR B R i K T B AR ) i
= i A6 5 ) T 25 BORE 25 8 IR 4 O fE AR 2 L
B MR FE=ZA=+—H o REERZ
P32 A PE 25 3B 4R a8 ATk Z S i 78 (Mt 20)
Z M1 50 R e B T | BB S A A B

4% LR SR 4 R A Ik b s Rl > 1
M B8 hm A 3% > Ho At AT 8 DR Ak R A
A S ) 2 A4 B s I PR A S 4 A B R A T
i 75 4% $H 25 AR B9 & & B 2 A F i % B
S BRI #1533,0008 5T (8 48 ¢
423,000¥7T) -

A4 B

ACER [ R AT B B e AR AC SR A B
3 AR AR R S5 R ) O I A A R AR
P 3R DL S S 3 5 KAL R OR A

24 5% [0 R 8 AR A0 1 2 B A T A B A A5 A I
T VAR o T A wl B A K > AR AT
o PR R 2 RS, ~ 1 B SRR [ A B AT R
H&O

MR ZHE=ZHA=+—H > B EERTEHEZ
MR- NRE_R__ER R —FEZH
=t —HILEEN BAREHZ HE - BUR K
TR M R A o

ACSR H A5 AR A B R DB A - SRR
PR R B 2 BRAT Rk B DA AR 2 W 25 P A %
JRE A B 2 O 5 B % o (U A L R ol Ry A
JE R SRR AT o A BCEIIR > RAREA RN :

2022 2021

—2—— ot e

HK$’000 HK$’000

T T BT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings BRI B Z RAT B K 35,235 21,214
Equity attributable to equity holders of the Company 565 J S A 2 W RE RS BT A P RE R 598,718 620,198
Gearing ratio ABEEARILE 6% 3%

CECCFER | ERARBREEZERERAA
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COMPANY

34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

Information about the statement of financial position of the

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

34. Ao W) B R DL

ARAF R AR Z HBAARLRERWT -

2022 2021
ot ~Zat TR TR
HK$’000 HKS$°000
BT o BT o
NON-CURRENT ASSETS I B &
Interests in subsidiaries T B A W) Z RE 25 128,396 185,210
CURRENT ASSETS Ul I
Due from subsidiaries JFEE g g A D 262,347 192,258
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables THATBRIE ~ 5T & T At B WOk IH 5,120 116
Cash and cash equivalents BRe KRB 4&FHER 1,042 1,359
Total current assets WA AR 268,509 193,733
CURRENT LIABILITIES Ui W £ 45
Due to subsidiaries JRE A Bt A ] 87,142 63,599
Other payables and accruals A 8 A sk T B T £ 6 1,163 1,056
Total current liabilities it B £ AR 88,305 64,655
NET CURRENT ASSETS W W) ¥ 180,204 129,078
Net assets BT 308,600 314,288
EQUITY B 3%
Share capital &N 117,095 117,095
Retained profits (note) PR 88 i B (M AE) 191,505 197,193
Total equity HE £ B8 4E 308,600 314,288
TAI Chun Kit # & B TSE Siu Wan &
Director # % Director #
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35.

36.

37.

Notes to Financial Statements

B 75 8 o BY =
31 March 2022 Z2=-Z%=8=+—H
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 34, A2 v B R Bk ()
COMPANY (continued)
Note: M at ¢
A summary of the Company’s retained profits is as follows: AN E AR A Z M ¢
Retained
profits
PR B2 A
HK$’000
BT T
At 1 April 2020 PR RENMHA—H 204,024
Total comprehensive loss for the year 2 A B 48 2 Vi s 1E (6,831)
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021 R B HEEHA=EH AR ENA—H 197,193
Total comprehensive loss for the year AR AR JBE 4 2 i 1R (5,688)
At 31 March 2022 MR ZHE=ZH=E+—H 191,505

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

The comparative operating segment information has been
represented as if the change of the composition of the Group’s
reportable segments has been effected at the beginning of the
comparative year.

SUBSEQUENT EVENT AFTER REPORTING
PERIOD

On 12 June 2022, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company
entered into the sales and purchase agreement with the vendors
in respect of purchasing a property located in Japan with a
consideration of JPY 190,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$11,139,700). Details of which are included in the Company’s
announcement dated 12 June 2022.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 29 June 2022.

—EooEER |

35. 4@

PO AR 3 HI A USR5 S 4% 4 0 A
528 T8 A b 247 ) % A B A DU AT R

36. 9 AR g

W AENAHTZH s RAFZ 2 E K
BAFHE MM EMNE Rz ET L E
o ik o AR %5 190,000,000 H B (FH 25 4 4
11,139,700%70)  sEERMNARAR HE# A —F
TTENATZHZARR -

37. WEHEZ AW

AMBEHECR -FFANA LA EE
PR A o SN A T R

p==
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i
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Particulars of Properties

S

31 March 2022 ZE==f=A=+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES HEYE
Percentage of attributable
Location Use Tenure interest of the Group
b o jif7 ALY 7 45 14 B A R 2 T ) B
112-11, Shimbashi 5-chome, Commercial Short term lease 100
Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan [LES M

HAR IR X fG 1 T H112% #11
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